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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. We have a number of items to

          4  consider on today's agenda. Let me note that we have

          5  two particularly significant items. The legislation

          6  called by on by SLR 36 would essentially repeal the

          7  Urstadt Law and allow the City of New York to expand

          8  rent and eviction protections under the New York

          9  City Rent Control Laws. Rent control is a very

         10  charged subject. I feel that as a body that is most

         11  closely tied to the different communities of our

         12  City, it is appropriate for the Council to have the

         13  authority to look at the regulations affecting one

         14  of the most important issues facing people living

         15  within the City of New York.

         16                 Another topic, Resolution 238- A

         17  would call on the President of the United States and

         18  Congress and the Federal Department of Defense to

         19  overturn the current, Don't Ask, Don't Tell, Don't

         20  Pursue, policy and allow lesbian, gay, bisexual and

         21  transgender persons to serve openly in the military.

         22  We have heard much testimony that the current policy

         23  only institutionalizes anti- gay discrimination and

         24  hope to make a statement of supporting values of

         25  tolerance and freedom.
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          2                 The legislation called on by SLR 13

          3  would cure an inequity where the New York City

          4  Police Officers have to repay pension loans in

          5  installments that are significantly higher than

          6  other City employees as a percentage of that

          7  officer's income. The legislation underline SLR 14

          8  would waive the firearm license fee for qualified

          9  retired sheriffs, undersheriffs and deputy sheriffs

         10  of the City of New York.

         11                 The legislation underline SLR 16

         12  would restore service credit for retirement purposes

         13  to correctional officers who were laid off on or

         14  after May 1, 2003, and who returned to active

         15  service no later than July 1, 2004. The bills behind

         16  the preconsidered SLR that refer to Senate Bill No.

         17  2077 and Assembly Bill No. 6940 are related to SLR

         18  21 and would authorize the New York City teacher's

         19  retirement system to accept an application for Rose

         20  Treiber for reinstatement into tier one of that

         21  pension system. Due to the resignation of the

         22  Assemblyman Michael Cohen (phonetic), Assembly Bill

         23  No. 3634, which is a part of SLR 21 is no longer

         24  valid. Assembly Bill No. 6940 is an identical bill

         25  sponsored by Assemblyman Abbate. It has been
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          2  substituted for SLR 21 and is before us as a

          3  preconsidered item along with Senate Bill No. 2077.

          4                 The bills behind SLR 38 would

          5  reconvey property in the borough of Queens based

          6  upon the meeting of certain conditions. The bills

          7  behind SLR 41 would codify legal settlements and

          8  credit the police and other uniformed officers with

          9  immediate prior service in certain law enforcement

         10  titles for purposes of determining eligibility and

         11  benefits under the police pension fund. Finally, the

         12  legislation underlined SLR 51 would provide school

         13  safety officers with the leave of absence with pay

         14  and could not be charged against their leave credits

         15  if they are disabled due to an assault arising out

         16  of their employment.

         17                 To begin as I stated earlier, we're

         18  going to be saving the Urstadt Law conversation for

         19  last. In the interest of time, so we'll be able to

         20  move forward with the other items. At this point in

         21  time, let me introduce the colleagues that I have

         22  with me at this point. We have Council Member

         23  Addabbo, Council Member Sears, Council Member

         24  Fidler, Council Member McMahon and my name is Joel

         25  Rivera. I'm the Majority Leader of the City Council
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          2  and Chair of the State and Federal Legislation

          3  Committee.

          4                 At this point in time, we are going

          5  to first call upon the Administration to come

          6  forward to testify. The members of the

          7  Administration, please come forward, take your seats

          8  and start your testimony. Sir, could you please

          9  state your name for the record, identify yourself

         10  and you may proceed. You have to turn the light off

         11  in order for it to be on.

         12                 MR. YATES: Richard Yates. I'm an

         13  Assistant Commissioner at the City Office of Labor

         14  Relations. Shall I begin? The first piece is SLR 13.

         15  Generally the City opposes this bill on the basis of

         16  costs or spillover effect to other groups. There are

         17  memorandums and opposition that will be submitted to

         18  the State on each of these pieces. On SLR 16, the

         19  City would object to this unless it is proven to be

         20  cost neutral to the City. SLR 21, the City opposes

         21  one person bills generally and we oppose re- openers

         22  for the same reason. Regarding SLR 41, the City's

         23  opposition is based on cost. There is no estimate

         24  provided by the City actuary on the cost of this.

         25  Further, items like this may be appropriate to be
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          2  discussed in collective bargaining. That did not

          3  take place in this case.

          4                 SLR 51, this would serve to bypass

          5  agency heads discretion. There is already a

          6  provision for an individual to appeal a decision to

          7  arbitration. It's inconsistent with policy set forth

          8  in the Citywide agreement and the City's opposed to

          9  it for those reasons. That's all I'm prepared to

         10  speak about on these items.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         12  much. Are there any questions on behalf of the

         13  Committee? Seeing none, sir, thank you very much.

         14  Next we have the Actuary for the City of New York.

         15  You may take your seat. Make sure the light is off

         16  so the mike will be on and state your name for the

         17  record and you may proceed with your testimony.

         18                 MR. NORTH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         19  members of the Committee. I'm Robert C. North, Jr.

         20  I'm the Chief Actuary for the New York City

         21  Retirement Systems. My remarks today reflect the

         22  opinions of the Actuary and don't necessarily

         23  reflect the opinions of the Retirement System, the

         24  employer or the sponsors of the organization. As

         25  noted on prior occasions, the Actuary believes that
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          2  it is essential and that the City Council and the

          3  legislators in Albany address proposed pension

          4  legislation and hopefully be able to address four

          5  major concerns that come up on an ongoing basis.

          6                 The Actuary believes that proposed

          7  legislation would be technically correct, be clear

          8  in its intent, be administrable and meet policy

          9  objectives. Toward that end, on the legislation

         10  before you today, I'd like to comment on SLR 10. On

         11  SLR 10, which is the deputy sheriff's unreduced

         12  early retirement at age 50 and 20. Many of the

         13  deputy sheriff's are currently covered by improved

         14  benefit plans that require additional member

         15  contributions. Some are covered by programs that do

         16  not require such contributions. From policy

         17  perspectives, this is a somewhat different approach

         18  to providing benefits that has been traditionally

         19  the case in terms of providing benefits to groups

         20  that are involved with plans that we refer to as

         21  improved benefit plans in terms of not requiring any

         22  additional member contributions. The law is silent

         23  on the issues of what happens to the additional

         24  member contributions already paid and it is presumed

         25  that all the current provisions would be still
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          2  required and that this would layer on top and create

          3  additional administrative challenges.

          4                 With respect to SLR 16, the

          5  correction officer's buy back. Before coming over

          6  here, I had an opportunity to talk to Mr. Quasnicky

          7  (phonetic) of the Correction Officer Benevolent

          8  Association. I believe my technical concern has been

          9  addressed in that the law was not updated last year

         10  to provide subsequent to the enactment of a new

         11  correction officers plan that it is possible that

         12  some of the members will require their contributions

         13  to be paid back to a plan that they may no longer be

         14  in. However, the time schedule of things are such

         15  that it does appear that the members will be paying

         16  back to a plan they are currently in and cannot be

         17  promoted to the new plans until after the dates

         18  required.

         19                 However, there is a question of

         20  policy for the Committee to consider in that the

         21  post- 1990 lay offs, in the past, the employer cost

         22  portion of the bills have in fact been paid

         23  partially or in whole by the members. This bill

         24  would provide that employer cost are financed

         25  entirely by the employer and this would be the first
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          2  time that has happened and could potentially be an

          3  issue for other groups that have current legislation

          4  that is constructed differently and/or potential

          5  other legislation coming forth. I believe that is

          6  all I have for my spoken testimony and would be glad

          7  to answer any questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much. I just wanted to inform you that SLR 10 is

         10  actually not on the agenda for today, so we won't be

         11  voting on that item.

         12                 MR. NORTH: I'm sorry? It is not?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes, SLR 10 is

         14  not on the agenda for today.

         15                 MR. NORTH: Okay, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Any questions on

         17  behalf of the Committee? Council Member Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thanks. I'm a

         19  little confused with you say this would be the first

         20  time that the employer would be responsible for

         21  paying for this benefit entirely. Can you just

         22  clarify that for me?

         23                 MR. NORTH: You're referring to the

         24  buy back of lay off time?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.
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          2                 MR. NORTH: Since 1990 or in 1990

          3  there were some lay offs of sanitation members and

          4  in 2001, legislation was enacted following

          5  agreements amongst the parties providing that the

          6  members would do as is similar to this bill. The

          7  members would pay back required member

          8  contributions, any additional member contributions

          9  if so required and they would also pay under that

         10  legislation two percent per year of their own salary

         11  to in effect cover the employer cost. Now that lay

         12  off period in 1990 had people laid off for as much

         13  as 33 months and the percentage and the amount

         14  chosen to be paid was designed to be consistent with

         15  making the bill cost neutral to the City.

         16                 The bill subsequently has been

         17  amended and there has been some employer cost

         18  absorbed by reducing the payback period from 30

         19  years to 20 years. But I believe, at least post

         20  1990, this is the first bill that has requested the

         21  payment of member contributions back, but the

         22  employer component without any offsetting member

         23  contribution.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         25  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Any other

          3  questions? Seeing none, sir, thank you very much.

          4                 MR. NORTH: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At this point in

          6  time, if there are any other organizations here to

          7  testify on any pension bills, you may come forward

          8  to testify on those pension bills. Thank you very

          9  much, sir. You may take your seat, sit down and

         10  state your name for the record and proceed with the

         11  testimony.

         12                 MR. QUASNICKY: Good morning. My name

         13  is Williams Quasnicky. I'm the Legislative Chairman

         14  for the Correction Officers Benevolent Association.

         15  I'm here to testify on SLR 16 in regards to allowing

         16  my members to purchase back the time they were laid

         17  off during the fiscal crisis that the City was

         18  currently recovering from. All I'm asking for is a

         19  chance to get equity in regards to during the 70's

         20  fiscal crisis, police officers were laid off. When

         21  they were brought back to service, they were given

         22  an opportunity of allowed to buy back the time in

         23  which they were laid off. I'm just asking for the

         24  same treatment in regards to my officers.

         25                 They were laid off for a period of
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          2  six months. In an effort to save money, it wound up

          3  costing the Department more money because these

          4  officers were laid off. We tried to negotiate with

          5  the City to avert the lay offs. We weren't able to

          6  do it. The same day the City got the okay from

          7  Albany in regards to receiving income to balance the

          8  deficit, was the same day that my officers received

          9  their notice that they were being laid off. All I'm

         10  asking for is the fair treatment in regards to our

         11  brother and sister officers in New York City Police

         12  Department.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         14  much. Sir.

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZ: I'm Jonathon Schwartz

         16  (phonetic), the Actuary Consultant to Correction

         17  Officers formerly the Chief Actuary of the City.

         18  Back in the '70's, which was during my time, after

         19  the City's financial position improved, all City

         20  employees being uniformed and nonuniformed were

         21  permitted to buy back their time only by paying the

         22  employee contribution that they hadn't made that the

         23  City back around 1980 picked up the employer cost

         24  for the years that the people had been laid off

         25  Essentially, we're looking to not establish a new
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          2  precedent, but to restore a prior precedent.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          4  much. In my opinion also, I think it's only a fair

          5  system where we allow people that were laid off to

          6  actually be able to buy back their time in a manner

          7  that would bring back equity. There is a precedent

          8  as you stated in the 1970's, a similar program was

          9  initiated in the City of New York and I think we can

         10  work based on that precedent and allow our brother

         11  and sisters in the Correction Officers to buy back

         12  their time. I am support of that. I know Council

         13  Member Hiram Monserrate has a statement to make and

         14  Council Member Helen Sears will be right after.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair. Let me first and foremost say thank you

         17  to the fine work of the boldest officers in our

         18  correctional systems here in the City of New York.

         19  As a former police officer, I share many of your

         20  concerns. Let me just ask one question. Basically,

         21  why was the buy back never permitted for correction

         22  officers?

         23                 MR. QUASNICKY: Last year, the City

         24  was facing more or less bigger deficits and we

         25  didn't feel it was an opportune time to come and ask
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          2  the City for the permission to let our officers buy

          3  back. Now that the fiscal conditions of the City is

          4  improving, we come forward now and asking City Hall

          5  to let our members pay the contributions to their

          6  pension system so they have one continuous 20 year

          7  of service track instead of having a break in

          8  service for six months.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me

         10  just close by saying, Mr. Chair, I think this is

         11  more than fair and equitable and look forward to

         12  supporting our officers in the Corrections System.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

         15  Helen Sears and we've also been joined by Council

         16  Member Gail Brewer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair. I just want to say that responsibilities are

         19  to correct those wrongs that existed for a while.

         20  Certainly, this is one way to do that. I think your

         21  officers and what you do is tremendous. I've had

         22  opportunities to see them right in action. They

         23  deserve as much respect as any other uniforms in our

         24  City. This is a good thing we're doing and hopefully

         25  everyone will support it in the Committee. Thank
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          2  you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          4  much. Any other questions or statements? Seeing

          5  none, gentlemen, thank you very much. At this point

          6  in time, we will be under, Don't Ask, Don't Tell,

          7  we're just voting on that one. We will wait until we

          8  take the full vote. We will be taking testimony now

          9  from the Urstadt Law Bill. We're going to be calling

         10  up Timothy L. Collins from the Tenants and

         11  Neighbors; Clare Dockery from Citizens Action; and

         12  Michael McKee from the New York State Tenants and

         13  Neighbors Coalition. Ladies and gentlemen, we do

         14  have -- thank you, we haven't voted yet, so wait

         15  until the applause. As matter of fact, I apologize.

         16  We do have one more item to take care of before the

         17  Urstadt Law. We're going to ask people testifying to

         18  please take their seats. Then we're going to be

         19  calling on George Geller. It's a very short item

         20  that we're going to be hearing testimony on. It's

         21  SLR 51 and Mr. Geller, you may state your name for

         22  the record and proceed with your testimony.

         23                 MR. GELLER: Yes, my apologies for

         24  holding up the Urstadt debate. I'll be very quick.

         25  My name is George Geller. I am Special Assistant to
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          2  Carl Haines, President of Teamsters Local 237. I'm

          3  here today to urge the Council to pass home rule

          4  message in support of legislation pending in Albany

          5  that would give Local 237 school safety agents

          6  access to disability pay when they have been

          7  assaulted. This bill would make modest demands on

          8  the City treasury. But is immeasurably important to

          9  the brave 4,000 school safety agents who have been a

         10  repeated subject of discussion in this Council.

         11                 The bill would entitle them to 18

         12  months disability pay or leave without charge

         13  against their sick days, their precious vacation

         14  time in those instances where they have been

         15  assaulted. As we all know from newspaper coverage,

         16  these type of assaults with knives, fists and other

         17  objects are an unfortunate reality in our schools

         18  today. That's all we ask. The Council pass the

         19  similar home rule measure last year. We ask you to

         20  do so again. And to recognize the modest demands of

         21  the brave people who protect our million school

         22  children in New York every year. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         24  much. Any questions on behalf of the Committee? Sir,

         25  thank you very much. Now we will get started with
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          2  the Urstadt testimony. Again, we're going to call on

          3  Timothy L. Collins, Clare Dockery, and Michael

          4  McKee. Due to the fact that we have a substantial

          5  amount of people testifying, I would ask even though

          6  we have so many people in support of this piece of

          7  legislation, that we keep the applause to a minimum

          8  so that we can transition to each speaker in a very

          9  timely effective way. You do have a lot of support.

         10  You may begin.

         11                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         12  members of the Committee. Let me first if I may, Mr.

         13  Chairman, make a little note about today in history.

         14  Two- hundred thirty years ago this morning on the

         15  shores of Lake Champaign, about 200 farmers formed

         16  and gathered loading their muskets and getting on to

         17  boats crossing the lake and took over Fort

         18  Ticonderoga. That was the first affirmative act of

         19  the American Revolution. What a lot of people don't

         20  know is that militia otherwise known as the Green

         21  Mountain Boys had been formed largely to oppose

         22  large landlords who were attempting to evict them

         23  from their farms because their titles had been

         24  challenged.

         25                 In fact, one of the portraits that is
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          2  hung in the Blue Room for many years, I'm not sure

          3  if it is there, that of James Dwayne, was one of the

          4  large landowners who disputed their titles. What's

          5  interesting is that in response to a complete

          6  failure of accountability, the King of England had

          7  sided with the New York landlords in this dispute.

          8  The settlers had in extreme frustration found no

          9  other avenues, but armed resistance which is what

         10  lead to their initial formation and ultimately to

         11  that first invasion of the American Revolution.

         12                 Today, we're here to talk about home

         13  rule over very vital matter concerning housing for

         14  thousands and thousands, actually over a million New

         15  York City tenants. Rent regulation, rent

         16  stabilization, and rent control is the most critical

         17  housing affordability program that the City has. As

         18  you well know that program has been really

         19  controlled by the State for now almost 50 years and

         20  in 1971, a law known as the Urstadt Law was adopted

         21  which prevented the City from adopting any further

         22  or more extensive protections for tenants. In the

         23  interim period, the State largely through real

         24  estate lobbyists have engineered a series of acts

         25  which result in the slow dismantling of the system.
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          2  In fact, the dismantling is actually speeding up and

          3  we anticipate that we may lose as much as 200,000 or

          4  we have lost as much as 200,000 units in recent

          5  years and we may lose half of the rent stabilized

          6  stock in the coming decade.

          7                 We are here to move this Committee

          8  and the Council to assert the rights of City

          9  residents to control matters which as clearly local

         10  as they are vital. The failure to act and to act

         11  vigorously has a twofold consequence. First, decades

         12  of State control over City rent protections has lead

         13  us to a severe housing affordability crisis. Second,

         14  it is foster to form a political corruption and that

         15  is inexcusable in a State that claims democratic

         16  values.

         17                 Let me first discuss the housing

         18  affordability crisis. According to the U.S. Census

         19  Bureau, New York City ranks 11th in a nation wide

         20  survey of housing costs. And yet it is 37th in

         21  median income. I think many of you know the average

         22  tenant household has income levels which are only

         23  about half of those of homeowners. In 1970, the

         24  average tenant household paid 20 percent of their

         25  income and rent. Today, they pay over 28 percent of
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          2  their income and rent. Over one quarter of all

          3  tenant households devote more than 50 percent of

          4  their income to rent.

          5                 Last year, over 38,000 City residents

          6  were homeless including over 9,000 families which

          7  continue to trend of record homeless levels. While

          8  rents continue to rise, the real inflation adjusted

          9  incomes of New York City residents has declined

         10  falling by five percent in 2002 and one and a half

         11  percent in 2003, the last year for which I have

         12  numbers. The construction of public housing has come

         13  to a stand still. The Section 8 subsidy program has

         14  been severely cut back. Waiting lists for subsidized

         15  housing are hopelessly long. The last count I saw

         16  were in the hundreds of thousands.

         17                 How have owners fared under rent

         18  regulation? Recent work by the Rent Guidelines Board

         19  demonstrates that on average 38 cents of every rent

         20  dollar collected by landlord goes to net operating

         21  income. This is the same ratio that existed in 1967

         22  and the same ratio that existed in 1989, despite the

         23  fact that the housing stock has aged 35 years since

         24  that time. Under normal circumstances, the net

         25  operating incomes of rental buildings will decline
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          2  over time because of the growing age of those

          3  properties. But nonetheless, their incomes have been

          4  preserved.

          5                 Indeed, net operating incomes grew 19

          6  percent between 1989 and 2001. And that's in

          7  inflation adjusted terms. These gains were reduced

          8  to some extent because of what we described as the

          9  perfect storm of 2003 when many of you may recall,

         10  we have very large tax increases and the operating

         11  costs for owners shot up 16 percent. So there was an

         12  additional burden that had to be shared by both

         13  owners and tenants. But nonetheless, owners have not

         14  lost any ground under the system in 35 years.

         15                 Between 1989 and 1994, I served as

         16  the Executive Director and Counsel for the New York

         17  City Rent Guidelines Board. During that period, I

         18  managed a research staff of five researchers and we

         19  looked at every aspect, every element of rent

         20  regulation and every criticism that is lodged

         21  against rent regulation. The arguments that rent

         22  regulation hurt new construction or cause housing

         23  abandonment or a deterioration of quality or unfair

         24  to owners, we examined each one of these in detail.

         25  In light of that examination, none of those
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          2  criticisms held up.

          3                 The system has produced

          4  affordability, habitability and security of tenure

          5  for millions of New York City residents over several

          6  decades. It has allowed owners to obtain fair and

          7  indeed a growing rate of return on their investment.

          8  It has not caused under utilization. It has not

          9  caused a decline in housing construction. Those

         10  things have been affected by a number of other

         11  factors including zoning and building codes. It is

         12  not harmed new comers or unregulated households. In

         13  general it has been a very effective program for

         14  housing affordability. I think that this Committee

         15  should bear in mind that when an investor goes out

         16  in the market to look at a rent regulated building,

         17  nobody forces their hand to purchase those

         18  buildings. But those buildings are purchased all the

         19  time.

         20                 In fact, Crain's Magazine a year or

         21  two ago, described rent stabilized buildings as one

         22  of the best investments in New York City real estate

         23  because owners pay a discounted price for those

         24  buildings because of the regulation and get a higher

         25  relative returns and more predictable returns
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          2  because the regulatory authorities have given fairly

          3  generous and steady increases over many decades.

          4                 Why shouldn't we move to the market?

          5  Why can't the market solve this problem? We did.

          6  From the time of the American Revolution until 1919,

          7  there were no rent regulations in New York and the

          8  market ruled. It was largely a disaster. New York

          9  became famous for its dangerous tenement slums. In

         10  1833, a City inspector decried the City's mercenary

         11  landlords. Three riots in mid- century were linked

         12  to the pathological state of the housing situation.

         13  Jacob Reece (phonetic) documented overcrowded and

         14  disease ridden buildings where rents were reported

         15  to be 30 percent higher than the newer buildings

         16  uptown. There were rent strikes in 1904, 1908 and

         17  1919.

         18                 The situation stabilized with the

         19  rent laws of the 1920's, which regulated rents for

         20  existing units. Notably, the 1920's witnessed the

         21  largest boom in housing construction in New York

         22  City history. Not withstanding the fact that

         23  existing units were subject to rent regulation. We

         24  had the same experience following World War II and

         25  into the 1960's when we had our second largest
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          2  housing boom, not withstanding the presence of

          3  strict rent regulations. Following the end of the

          4  rent laws in the 1920's, Harlem witnessed what was

          5  described as the great rent strike of 1932,

          6  involving thousands of tenants, rent strikes and

          7  riots. The most stable period in housing in the

          8  City's history has been from World War II to the

          9  present when various forms of rent regulation had

         10  protected most City tenants.

         11                 These regulations are now

         12  disappearing. First, we've witnessed luxury

         13  decontrol. As I mentioned, there is two elements to

         14  that program which are high income decontrol and

         15  high rent vacancy decontrol. As I mentioned, we have

         16  estimates as high as 200,000 units having been lost

         17  as a result of this. This was prompted by State

         18  action beginning in 1993. We expect to lose hundreds

         19  of thousands of more units in the coming years at a

         20  time when newcomers cannot find affordable housing.

         21                 In addition, the State seized control

         22  of vacancies allowances. The Rent Guidelines Board

         23  for many years would adopt allowances in the five to

         24  ten percent range. Now tenants experience typically

         25  20 percent and higher due to a longevity bonus that
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          2  is added onto that. In addition, those rents can be

          3  increased by apartment improvements, many of which

          4  in my practice, I've discovered are padded illegally

          5  in order to get the rents above the $2,000 threshold

          6  and ultimately pull the units out of the system.

          7                 Third, in an 11th hour move in Albany

          8  before the last renewal of the rent laws, the State

          9  basically engineered a situation where tenants who

         10  receive preferential rents; that's rents lower than

         11  the legal rents, are immediately and completely

         12  derived of those benefits upon renewal of their

         13  lease. We have tens of thousands of City residents

         14  faced with very stark rent increases based upon that

         15  change in the law which had no public debate; no

         16  legislative debate in Albany; and ultimately no

         17  accountability to the City.

         18                 Fourth, the State adopted the four

         19  year rule which is not simply a statute of

         20  limitations saying that if you don't challenge rent

         21  overcharges in four years, you lose a right to claim

         22  four year old rent adjustments. It's basically an

         23  evidentiary rule which says if you don't challenge

         24  those rents within four years, the owner can

         25  continue challenging what would otherwise be illegal
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          2  rents. In other words, if you rob the bank long

          3  enough, you can keep robbing the bank with impunity.

          4                 Fifth, a whole host of administrative

          5  changes which have been engineered at the State

          6  Division of Housing and Community Renewal governing

          7  capital improvements, transition from owner supply

          8  to electricity to individual meter to electricity,

          9  income certification and luxury decontrol cases, all

         10  favor owners. We've seen a series of Supreme Court

         11  in appellate division cases where the DHCR has been

         12  reversed for continuing and increasing capricious

         13  actions with the administration of rent regulation.

         14                 Despite growing hardship to tenants

         15  and record profits to owners, for over 20 years,

         16  tenants have not received a single significant new

         17  form of protection and they have lost ground in

         18  several areas discussed. What is unfortunate is that

         19  the countless battles that have been fought in years

         20  ago are now being undermined by a smorgasbord of

         21  subtle and overt attempts to dismantle the system.

         22                 Where is the pressure coming from?

         23  When Franklin Roosevelt campaigned for president in

         24  1932, he confronted what he described as the forces

         25  of organized money. Well, despite valiant efforts,
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          2  it appears that the forces of organized money have

          3  finally succeeded. In New York State, the captain of

          4  organized money is the New York City real estate

          5  industry. Why is it that Senator Bonacic who

          6  represents a district in Sullivan and Delaware

          7  county received over $6,000 since 1999 from the Real

          8  Estate Board of New York? Why did Senator Bruno from

          9  the Sarotago area received $8,000? Why did Senator

         10  Robach from the Rochester area receive over $8,000

         11  from the Real Estate Board?

         12                 None of these Senators have a single

         13  rent regulated tenant in their districts. Yet, they

         14  and dozens of others received nearly $3 million in

         15  campaign contributions from New York City Real

         16  Estate interest according to Common Cause in the

         17  period from 1999 to 2003. Ninety- eight percent of

         18  that money went to Republican candidates, Republican

         19  and conservative parties.

         20                 When arguing on behalf of adopting

         21  the Federal constitution, James Madison once wrote

         22  that the genius of our democratic system demands not

         23  only the power should be derived from the people;

         24  but that those entrusted with it should be kept

         25  dependent upon the people. Despite the tremendous
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          2  power Senator Bruno exerts over New York City's rent

          3  protections, how many rent regulated tenants did

          4  Senator Bruno answered to at election time? The

          5  answer is none. Senator Bonacic, none. Senator

          6  Robach, none. This is true of dozens of others.

          7                 This disconnect creates a two- sided

          8  form of political corruption. These senators and

          9  many others are not accountable to those over whom

         10  they exercise tremendous power and what is the real

         11  estate industry getting for its money. Influence as

         12  pure as it is corrupt. There is another form of

         13  corruption spawn by this unholy alliance. Local

         14  representatives, members of this Council and the

         15  Mayor can easily duck under claims that rent

         16  regulation is a State issue in order to avoid

         17  accountability for what happens in the City's

         18  housing market. It is too late for that now. Any

         19  local elected official who refuses to support home

         20  rule over rent and eviction protections cannot later

         21  hide under a claim that this is a State issue. This

         22  is your opportunity to act.

         23                 This home rule resolution is

         24  preeminently a local issue. There is no principal

         25  reason not to support it. We hope and expect that
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          2  every single member of the Council and the Mayor

          3  will both support this resolution and vigorously

          4  support the changes sought in Albany. Those farmers,

          5  230 years ago loaded their muskets on the shores of

          6  Lake Champaign. It's time for us to load the buses,

          7  get up to Albany and make sure that they start

          8  listening to New York City tenants who have had

          9  enough. Thank you very much for your time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         11  much. Ladies and gentlemen, please if you can keep

         12  the applause to a minimum. Thank you for your very

         13  intensive and extensive testimony that you just

         14  presented to us.

         15                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Do you have that

         17  in writing because it's a lot?

         18                 MR. COLLINS: It's kind of a little

         19  hieroglyphic.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: It's all over the

         21  place.

         22                 MR. COLLINS: I'll provide something

         23  later.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If you can

         25  provide it to us, that will be fantastic for our
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          2  documentation. Let me ask you a question. You stated

          3  that we currently have lost over 200,000 rent

          4  stabilized units from the City of New York?

          5                 MR. COLLINS: I've heard various

          6  estimates and that's one of the estimates, yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Do we know what

          8  the trend is going to be in the upcoming years for

          9  the City?

         10                 MR. COLLINS: My understanding is that

         11  the process is accelerating. As more units approach

         12  the $2,000 threshold, primarily upon vacancy, those

         13  units are going out of the system. This is a natural

         14  process of dismantling the system because everybody

         15  knows that rents go up every year and we have

         16  increasing numbers of apartments approaching the

         17  $2,000 level.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So the second an

         19  apartment reaches $2,000, that apartment is taken

         20  off the rent stabilization?

         21                 MR. COLLINS: Upon vacancy.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Upon vacancy.

         23                 MR. COLLINS: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Do we know which

         25  areas are affected the heaviest under this
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          2  situation?

          3                 MR. COLLINS: Certainly, Manhattan is

          4  affected very heavily because the rents tend to be

          5  higher in Manhattan. Every borough in the City has

          6  felt the impact of this.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Has felt the

          8  impact of this. Okay. There was another question I

          9  had. There is one million apartments currently that

         10  are under rent stabilization.

         11                 MR. COLLINS: Just over one million,

         12  yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Oh, just a little

         14  bit over one million.

         15                 MR. COLLINS: About 50 or 60,000 under

         16  the older rent control program. Those units

         17  generally in most instances go to market upon

         18  vacancy because they are very generous allowances

         19  for rent increases as they transition into rent

         20  stabilization.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Now how would,

         22  just to play devil's advocate, because there are so

         23  many different sides to everything. How would people

         24  that are currently within lower income communities

         25  like the Bronx, Brooklyn and some part of Queens,
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          2  how would they be affected, if you can state for the

          3  record, how would they be affected within those

          4  markets? Because there have been some conflicting

          5  reports.

          6                 MR. COLLINS: They are affected in a

          7  variety of ways. Because this is not just about

          8  luxury decontrol. This is about vacancy allowances

          9  with the State which the State has made far more

         10  beneficial for owners and allowed as I said before,

         11  at least a 20 percent increase in most instances and

         12  a longevity bonus. So people entering the housing

         13  market will be paying those higher increases.

         14                 In addition, there are a series of

         15  far more complex administrative actions that have

         16  taken place at the division of housing and community

         17  renewal. For example, it used to be when a building

         18  transition from owner supply to electricity to

         19  individual metering, the tenants benefited from a

         20  reduction of rent to wipe out old increases that

         21  were permitted only for those receiving electricity

         22  from the owners. That's been cut out. That

         23  transition now is far less protective of tenants and

         24  as a result, we're seeing a wide scale move away

         25  from owner supply to electricity to tenant paid
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          2  electricity because the rent adjustments are more

          3  lucrative for owners.

          4                 In addition, there are other areas in

          5  service reduction complaints and MCI rules. And also

          6  one thing that was very disturbing for many years

          7  was the income certification process where if

          8  somebody happened to be away or an elderly person

          9  wasn't reading their mail or didn't understand what

         10  was going on with respect to certain notices, the

         11  DHCR would immediately deregulate their apartment if

         12  they missed the deadline. We had to go all the way

         13  to the Court of Appeals in order to change that to

         14  force DHCR to give people a hearing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         16  much. Are there any other questions? Council Member

         17  Gail Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know we're

         19  going to hear from Michael and Clare, so I will ask

         20  more questions then. But one quick question is that

         21  Michael and I have talked about that doesn't get

         22  enforced, Stanley Michel's when he voted for, I

         23  think, very disastrous vacancy decontrol bill did

         24  state as part of it that every owner would have to

         25  indicate to the next tenant after a vacancy
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          2  decontrol the rent history. I have never seen

          3  enforced. I'm just wondering if you have any

          4  experience with that.

          5                 MR. COLLINS: The provision of

          6  information about providing tenants with the last

          7  legal rent, I have not had any direct experience

          8  with it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Any other

         10  questions? Next on the panel. In the interest of

         11  time, due to the fact that we have so many people

         12  testifying, we're going to try to maintain people to

         13  three minute clock.

         14                 MR. MCKEE: Good morning, Mr. Chair

         15  and members of the Committee. My name is Michael

         16  McKee. I'm the Associate Director of the New York

         17  State Tenants and Neighbors Coalition; the Statewide

         18  membership organization that advocates and lobbies

         19  for tenants rights and affordable housing. Gail, if

         20  I could just correct you. First of all, Stanley

         21  Michels voted against vacancy decontrol in 1994.

         22  It's important to realize that it was this City

         23  Council, none of you were members, that first

         24  imposed permanent vacancy decontrol upon the system

         25  based on the rent level of $2,000 a month.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Sorry.

          3                 MR. MCKEE: It was not the

          4  Legislature. But you can't now undo that, you are

          5  now barred from correcting that mistake which we

          6  said at the time was a mistake and unless the

          7  Urstadt Law is repealed, you won't be able to

          8  correct it and reverse the phase out of rent

          9  regulation. We want to thank City Council Speaker

         10  Gifford Miller, State and Federal Legislation

         11  Committee Chairman, Joel Rivera, and the other

         12  sponsors of this home rule message. This is a first

         13  and the first step in what will no doubt be a

         14  difficult campaign to win back home rule over rents

         15  and evictions. We look forward to working with the

         16  Council to achieve this goal.

         17                 For some 20 years, former Council

         18  Member Stanley Michels sponsored a resolution

         19  calling on the Legislature to repeal the Urstadt

         20  Law. But former Council Speaker Peter Vallone would

         21  not allow it to come up for a vote. Consequently,

         22  when we lobbied State legislators to repeal the

         23  Urstadt Law, we were told, the City Council doesn't

         24  even want this back. It was hard to argue with them.

         25  And now they won't be able to use that dodge because
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          2  of what you are doing.

          3                 I'm going to cut to the end because I

          4  want to point out some of the things you could do to

          5  fix the rent regulation system if you got home rule

          6  power back and I would also direct your attention to

          7  a four page fact sheet that I submitted with my

          8  testimony that has some background and history.

          9  First of all, you could make some sense out of the

         10  rent regulation system. We now have a crazy quilt

         11  patchwork of laws. There are three separate rent

         12  laws in effect in New York City with conflicting

         13  terms. If you count the Loft Law, there are four.

         14  They have different provisions, different

         15  requirements and you could make some sense out of

         16  that.

         17                 You could repeal high rent vacancy

         18  decontrol and other destructive decontrol measures.

         19  By the way, we don't call it luxury decontrol with

         20  difference to my friend here. We call it what it is,

         21  vacancy decontrol and high income decontrol. That's

         22  what the law calls it. You could expand rent

         23  protection, rent stabilization to cover Mitchell-

         24  Lama buildings and Section 8 buildings that leave

         25  those programs. You could provide relief to rent
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          2  controlled tenants who now pay much higher rent

          3  increases than rent stabilized tenants even those

          4  the median household income is much lower. There is

          5  a bunch of other things we mentioned here that you

          6  could do.

          7                 I think finally, today we hope will

          8  be not only the beginning of a campaign for home

          9  rule, but for the beginning of a re- evaluation and

         10  a discussion of the importance of rent regulation to

         11  this City. And that there is a great deal of

         12  misinformation and lack of understanding about the

         13  importance of rent regulation. Many people believe

         14  including myself, it's the most successful

         15  affordable housing program we've ever had. And some

         16  people think it's the only successful affordable

         17  housing program we've ever had. That discussion

         18  needs to be part of this campaign. Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         21  much. Mr. McKee, if I can ask you a quick question.

         22  There has been an understanding that in determining

         23  the median income of the City of New York, other

         24  counties are taking into consideration and

         25  determining that median income. As part of your urge
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          2  or direction to change that structure to only

          3  identify the --

          4                 MR. MCKEE: The numbers that Tim cited

          5  are from New York City only. They are derived from

          6  the New York City Housing and Vacancy Survey which

          7  is done every three years by the Census Bureau under

          8  contract with the Department of Housing Preservation

          9  and Development. You will be getting a new Housing

         10  and Vacancy Survey in January or February, because

         11  in March, you have to vote to renew the rent control

         12  and rent stabilization laws for another three years.

         13  So that number is New York City. You're talking

         14  about a different set of numbers which are regional

         15  which is certainly a problem. But the numbers Tim

         16  cited is for New York City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, good. Thank

         18  you. Before we move on, we also have a school here

         19  joining us today. They are from Council Member

         20  Kendall Stewart's district. They are actually

         21  leaving the back now. They are from the fifth grade

         22  class of public school No. 269. Students in the

         23  back, over here coming to see government at work.

         24  Ma'am, you may proceed with your testimony.

         25                 MS. DOCKERY: Good morning. My name is
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          2  Clare Dockery and I'm speaking for Citizen Action of

          3  New York in favor of SLR 36. Citizen Action of New

          4  York is pleased to join New York City tenant

          5  advocates and good government groups in calling for

          6  restoration of home rule over rent regulation.

          7  Albany's 34 years of control over New York City rent

          8  and evictions laws has been a disastrous. It is time

          9  to end this travesty and restore home rule to New

         10  York City.

         11                 For more than 20 years, Citizen

         12  Action has been organizing to approve healthcare,

         13  provide quality education and after school programs,

         14  get good pay for jobs, fight for social security and

         15  lessen the influence of big money and politics

         16  through clean election reform to get our voices

         17  heard. Stripping New York of its ability to address

         18  its housing affordability by regulating rents and

         19  evictions with a cynical and undemocratic move

         20  orchestrated by billionaire Republican Governor at

         21  the time, Nelson Rockefeller. Investing this crucial

         22  power in the State Legislature in Albany came from

         23  his grandfather, John D. Rockefeller, the founder of

         24  Standard Oil, later SO, later Exxon, along with his

         25  fellow Robert Barons (phonetic), a hundred years ago
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          2  perfected techniques of subverting a democracy.

          3                 The New York State Legislature

          4  characterized last year as the most dysfunctional in

          5  the nation by the Brennan Center for Justice has no

          6  business dictating rent regulation to the people of

          7  New York City. We could do a far better job

          8  ourselves. Two specific features of State politics

          9  combined make a bad idea removing decision making

         10  from the representatives of those most affected into

         11  a terrible one which has seen the New York housing's

         12  problems get worse and worse under Albany's control.

         13  The first is gerrymandering, drawing of legislative

         14  districts to preserve the incumbency in Albany

         15  rather than drawing neutral districts that would

         16  elect State representatives which more truly reflect

         17  the population.

         18                 The lines drawn in 2002, after the

         19  last census were a laughing stock. Indeed, the New

         20  York Public Interest Research Group, NYPIRG, has

         21  identified redistricting as the number one of its

         22  reformed New York; ten steps lawmakers can take to

         23  change Albany. When the State Legislature last

         24  renewed the rent laws in 2003, severely weakening

         25  them as it had done in 1993 and 1997, it acceded
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          2  them to 2011, when the same distorted districts will

          3  be in place.

          4                 The second and related problem which

          5  has contributed to the failure of State control over

          6  New York City housing's crisis is a scandalous state

          7  of campaign finance laws. Reforming campaign finance

          8  has been a key issue for Citizens Action, clean

          9  money, clean elections campaign. In a brazen and

         10  unfortunately successful attempt to buy influence

         11  where it is barely distinguishable from legal

         12  bribery, powerful interest such as New York's City

         13  Real Estate industry had funded millions of dollars

         14  to the Republican Senate campaign committee and

         15  returned have seen their astronomical profits

         16  maintained by the Legislature through policies such

         17  as vacancy increases and $2,000 vacancy decontrols.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much. Any questions for this panel? Council Member

         21  Mike McMahon.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman. Mr. McKee, you gave us a very nice

         24  listing of what you think the City Council would do

         25  if it was to receive the powers over the rent
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          2  control laws.

          3                 MR. MCKEE: Could do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Could do. Do

          5  you also foresee that the City would expand the

          6  units that are rent controlled or rent stabilized?

          7                 MR. MCKEE: I would hope so.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I didn't see

          9  that in your listing.

         10                 MC. MCKEE: I would certainly hope so.

         11  That's one area in which you could expand coverage

         12  would be to expand rent stabilization or whatever

         13  system you wanted to design. This would give you a

         14  chance to redesign the rent regulation system which

         15  we would very much look forward to doing with you.

         16  There are many things about the current system that

         17  just don't make sense. But you could expand coverage

         18  to include Mitchell- Lama buildings that leave the

         19  program whose landlords buy out of Mitchell- Lama.

         20  And if they were occupied after 1973, they don't

         21  fall under rent stabilization. The tenants are at

         22  the mercy of the market. The same thing with project

         23  based Section 8 buildings which are virtually all

         24  post 1973 because Section 8 was enacted by Congress

         25  in 1974. Again, those tenants are pretty much at the
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          2  mercy of the market. You can't do that now. If the

          3  Urstadt Law were repealed, you could do that.

          4                 You could also fix the problem that

          5  Mitchell- Lama tenants in pre- '74 buildings are now

          6  experiencing which is this seeming loop hole in the

          7  rent stabilization system that allows landlords to

          8  apply for an adjustment of the initial rent based on

          9  unique and precarious circumstances and we very much

         10  hope that the Court of Appeals which heard arguments

         11  last week will rule against these owners and for

         12  once by the way, we are on the same side of this

         13  issue as the State Division of Housing. They don't

         14  agree with the landlord's position either. There are

         15  any number of things you could do to expand

         16  coverage, sure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

         19  Gail Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         21  Your list is very helpful, Michael, because it puts

         22  it in one place all the ways in which repealing the

         23  Urstadt which we've all been talking about for so

         24  many years. One question I have is, if the politics

         25  allow a democratic governor and a democratic
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          2  assembly, will we still end up with a State Senate

          3  this Republican. How do we get rid of Urstadt in

          4  that situation?

          5                 MR. MCKEE: Well, not to be --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I don't know.

          7                 MR. MCKEE: As I said, it's going to

          8  be a difficult campaign. One thing is we need a

          9  Mayor who is going to use the bully pulpit of the

         10  Mayor's Office to talk about this issue. We haven't

         11  ever had that. Not a single Mayor since 1971 when

         12  the Urstadt Law was enacted has made this an issue.

         13  They have given lip service to it, but they have not

         14  talked about in a meaningful way. If Mike Bloomberg

         15  had fought for control over the rent laws the way he

         16  fought for control over the City schools, the

         17  Urstadt Law would be repealed by now.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: One other --

         19                 MR. MCKEE: Excuse me. The other thing

         20  that I would like to mention is that we should all

         21  be working to elect democrats to the New York Senate

         22  and they are within very reasonable striking

         23  distance of becoming the majority.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I totally

         25  agree and that's part of the package, of course,
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          2  that would be the best case scenario. I'm trying to

          3  understand if we don't get the best case scenario.

          4  My other question is, in other parts of the country,

          5  I always state not having full fact that California,

          6  for instance, in Los Angeles and San Francisco has

          7  more home rule than we do. Are there other places

          8  and what is the impact?

          9                 MR. MCKEE: New Jersey. Well, the

         10  difference between the New York State constitution

         11  and the New Jersey constitution is that

         12  municipalities in New Jersey and there are 110

         13  municipalities in New Jersey that have various forms

         14  of rent control. They can adopt whatever laws they

         15  want without permission of the State Legislature.

         16  Now the New Jersey State Legislature did pass a law

         17  a few years ago exempting new construction from rent

         18  regulation. But apart from that, the State has not

         19  interfered. Our State constitution is worded in such

         20  a way that and I'm not a constitutional expert by

         21  any means, but people who are have told us that the

         22  State has all the power here and the municipality

         23  has only the powers that the State grants to it. The

         24  State granted New York City home rule power, full

         25  home rule power in 1962. And then took it away in
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          2  1971. We want it back.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Seeing no other

          6  questions, thank you very much lady and gentlemen.

          7  Before we move on to the next testimony, we are

          8  actually going to take one vote on one of the

          9  preconsidered items. It's preconsidered item 438- A.

         10  We'll call that for a vote. But colleagues, we do

         11  have other items to vote on such as the Urstadt Law.

         12  I would ask that you all stay with us for the

         13  duration of the Committee. At this point in time, I

         14  would like the clerk to call the roll on

         15  preconsidered Resolution 438- A. That is the

         16  resolution calling upon President George Bush and

         17  the U.S. Congress and the U.S. Department of Defense

         18  to overturn the current, "Don't Ask, Don't Tell,

         19  Don't Pursue Policy."

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Rivera.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I vote aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I vote aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

          4  may I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes, you may.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I believe at

          7  the last hearing, I had asked that my name be added

          8  as a sponsor to 438- A. It hasn't been and so I will

          9  reiterate that request. I just want to say that I

         10  think it's an absolute disgrace that we ask young

         11  men and women to fight for freedom half way across

         12  the world and then don't offer that same freedom to

         13  them here in the United States. I very proudly vote

         14  aye.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         16  much, Council Member. I'll direct to our Counsel to

         17  add your name to the piece of legislation. I did

         18  state that the last time and I apologize for not

         19  being added. Any other statements or comments?

         20  Council Member Helen Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair. I bought a book last week and it was written

         23  by a fellow named McGallen (phonetic) and it was on

         24  the, Don't Ask, Don't Tell. Interestingly enough, he

         25  grew up in my district. It was the most fascinating
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          2  book to read and also the saddest. Because all he

          3  ever wanted to do was to be in the military. He

          4  wanted to grow up to be a solider and had to leave

          5  his profession that he loved so dearly because he

          6  had to compromise who he is, who he was and that is

          7  a disgrace. I hope everybody supports this and we

          8  must do everything we can to see that its over

          9  turned. His is a very heart warming story and I

         10  think I'm going to bring it in and everybody can

         11  read it. I vote aye. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of six in

         17  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         18  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much. Next we're going to call upon back to the

         21  Urstadt legislation, we're going to call upon Edline

         22  Jacquet. I hope I'm pronouncing that correctly, from

         23  State Senator Liz Krueger's office. Here we go. Also

         24  on the panel, it will be Lee Chong, from the Borough

         25  President's Office, C. Virginia Fields; and Adam
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          2  Szlachetka from Assembly Member, Jonathan Bing's

          3  office. Again, we're going to be having everybody on

          4  a three minute time clock so that we can hear

          5  everybody who has come to testify. You may begin. I

          6  say, ladies first. You have to turn the light off in

          7  order for it to be on.

          8                 MS: JACQUET: I'm going to be

          9  testifying on behalf of Senator Krueger. The

         10  Legislature is in session so she is in Albany this

         11  morning. Basically, she represents the 26th Senate

         12  District which includes the Upper East Side, East

         13  Midtown and the Midtown areas of Manhattan. I want

         14  to thank you for providing me with the opportunity

         15  to testify on the repeal of the Urstadt Law and the

         16  legislation that I have introduced in New York State

         17  Senate, Senate Bill 2735, restoring home rule to New

         18  York City; the law which was passed in 1971 as part

         19  of then Governor Rockefeller's vacancy decontrol

         20  legislation has greatly impacted New York City's

         21  ability to deal with this housing crisis. The

         22  Urstadt Law denies New York City the ability to

         23  strengthen its own rent laws, and violates the basic

         24  principle of home rule.

         25                 I strongly encourage the Council's
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          2  passage of SLR 36, which would send a strong message

          3  of support restoring home rule. A formal home rule

          4  message from New York City's local governing body

          5  would be critical in passage of the bill that

          6  Assemblyman Vito Lopez and I have proposed in the

          7  Assembly and the Senate respectively. This bill

          8  would amend the Local Emergency Housing Rent Control

          9  Act removing the restrictions on New York City from

         10  expanding its rent regulations laws. Home rule would

         11  allow much stronger tenant protections, stronger

         12  rent regulations and greater enforcement of the

         13  existing laws.

         14                 Home rule, the right to self

         15  government, has always been an important and

         16  respected goal in New York State, except curiously

         17  in the case of New York City governing its own rent

         18  laws. New York State Republicans constantly talk

         19  about giving more local control and flexibility to

         20  counties on so many issues. But they are unwilling

         21  to allow New York City the same ability to respond

         22  to its own housing issues. The Mayor recently fought

         23  for and received the right to gain local control of

         24  the New York City schools and educational policy.

         25  The Legislature routinely passes laws allowing
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          2  localities to raise local taxes and other matters of

          3  local concern.

          4                 In these instances, the New York

          5  State Legislature recognized that local communities

          6  are often best equipped to assess and address the

          7  needs and concerns of their local communities better

          8  than those in Albany who are far removed from the

          9  problems and realities of local residents. New York

         10  City has one of the tightest housing markets in the

         11  country, a circumstance that is unique in New York

         12  State and it should be addressed by local

         13  legislators.

         14                 Why repeal of the Urstadt Law is so

         15  important this year? Since 1971, when home rule over

         16  rent and eviction protections was taken away, New

         17  York City's housing situation has gone from chronic

         18  shortage to acute crisis. According to the 2002 New

         19  York City Housing and Vacancy Survey, the rental

         20  vacancy rate is 2.94 percent; a vacancy rate of less

         21  than five percent creates abnormal market

         22  conditions. Rent hardship afflicts poor and middle-

         23  class households alike, with half of all New Yorkers

         24  paying at or over the federal hardship level of 30

         25  percent of income in rent, and a fourth of all
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          2  households paying more than half their income in

          3  rent. Firefighters, nurses, teachers, police

          4  officers, construction workers, seniors, artists and

          5  thousands of other New Yorkers can no longer afford

          6  to live in the communities they serve. More and more

          7  low- income families have become homeless. There are

          8  more homeless people in New York City now than at

          9  any time since the Great Depression.

         10                 While communities across the State

         11  face a range of housing difficulties, the housing

         12  market in New York is unlike any other. New York

         13  City's local government is in the best position to

         14  understand and address the conditions created by

         15  this market. Currently, however, its hands are tied

         16  by the Urstadt Law and the local government is

         17  powerless to deal with the housing crisis within its

         18  borders. This act also creates an impediment to

         19  local government's ability to protect tens of

         20  thousands of families facing the devastating loss of

         21  protections under existing Mitchell- Lama and

         22  Section 8 programs.

         23                 The larger economic context of home

         24  rule. As families are forced out of their homes, the

         25  rents are frequently increased to exorbitant levels,
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          2  contributing to an even tighter housing market.

          3  There has been a steady erosion of rent regulations

          4  over the years since the Urstadt law was passed.

          5  According to the DHCR, thousands of units are lost

          6  each year to vacancy decontrol and deregulation. A

          7  recent April 10 New York Times article describes the

          8  steady loss of large numbers of rent regulated

          9  apartments. According to figures provided by the New

         10  York State Division of Housing, 13,024 apartments

         11  were deregulated last year, compared with 8,402 in

         12  2003 and 6,406 in 2002.

         13                 In the 1960's, 77 percent of the

         14  City's rental housing stock was covered under the

         15  rent regulation system. Now only 51.5 percent of

         16  that stock is regulated. The pace of this

         17  destabilization is alarming given the paucity of

         18  other affordable housing options in New York City

         19  and the lack of federal investment in housing,

         20  particularly in the Section 8 program. Do you want

         21  me to continue or is it all right if I continue?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I would ask you

         23  to wrap it up because we do have a lot of people to

         24  testify.

         25                 MS. JACQUET: Basically, Senator
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          2  Krueger urges the Council to pass the home rule

          3  message to repeal Urstadt. Mayor Bloomberg is on

          4  record as supporting home rule and has stated in the

          5  past that he believes the City and not the State

          6  Legislature should have power over rent regulations.

          7  The Mayor should be held to his past statements and

          8  must come out strongly in support of the Council's

          9  home rule message. His involvement would have a

         10  powerful effect on many upstate legislators,

         11  especially Senate Republicans. This is a critical

         12  issue that requires not only the Council's

         13  leadership but the Mayor's as well. Thank you again

         14  for the opportunity to testify. Senator Krueger

         15  looks forward to continuing to work with you on this

         16  and other important issues.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 MS. CHONG: Good morning, Chairman

         20  Rivera and Members of the Committee. My name is Lee

         21  Chong and I am here to today on behalf of the

         22  Manhattan Borough President, C. Virginia Fields. She

         23  is unable to attend because of a previous engagement

         24  and I will read her testimony.

         25                 I come here today in support of SLR
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          2  No. 36. I strongly support the repeal of the Urstadt

          3  Law. I came before the City Council in 2003 in

          4  support of Resolution 691 that called upon the State

          5  Legislature to repeal the 1971 Urstadt Law. As I

          6  said then and I believe it is worth repeating, in

          7  1997, Joe Bruno threatened to end rent control as we

          8  know it. He and the Republican led State Senate and

          9  the Governor are succeeding. But we must stop it

         10  here and now before rent stabilization exists no

         11  more.

         12                 It is past time to repeal the

         13  restrictive Urstadt Law and allow the City of New

         14  York to take responsibility for its own residents.

         15  It is time for New York State to restore home rule

         16  and allow us to protect our million plus renters. It

         17  is obvious the Governor and the State Legislature do

         18  not care. Mayor Bloomberg lobbied his fellow

         19  Republicans upstate to get control of the Board of

         20  Education. He did it in less than one year.

         21                 Where is the Mayor when it comes to

         22  getting home rule for renters? Where is the Mayor

         23  when it comes to preserving the already shrinking

         24  affordable housing stock? Why isn't he working as

         25  hard to get home rule for rent regulations as he did
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          2  for education? We need to get the Mayor to support

          3  the current State legislation introduced by Assembly

          4  Member Vito Lopez and State Senator Liz Krueger. We

          5  need a change of priorities.

          6                 It has been cheaper to preserve

          7  affordable housing than to build from the ground up.

          8  With the Mayor's New MarketPlace plan of 65,000

          9  units of affordable housing, only half is directed

         10  towards preservation. Since 1986, we have lost over

         11  28,000 units of Mitchell- Lama units to buyout. We

         12  have lost over 100,000 units of rent regulated

         13  apartments through luxury and vacancy decontrols. I

         14  doubt that Mayor Bloomberg will be able to find

         15  decent and affordable housing for the families who

         16  may have lost their homes through deregulation of

         17  rents and Mitchell- Lama buyouts.

         18                 Perhaps it is time for a change at

         19  City Hall. Perhaps it is time where the Chief

         20  Executive Officer of the City can relate to the

         21  housing needs of low and moderate income people; the

         22  blue and pink collar workers. Yes, I support the

         23  repeal of the Urstadt Law and yes, I will help to

         24  fight to get it repealed. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very
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          2  much. You may begin.

          3                 MR. SZLACHETKA: My name is Adam

          4  Szlachetka. I'm here on behalf of Assemblyman

          5  Jonathan Bing who represents the 73rd Assembly

          6  District on the East Side of Manhattan. I would like

          7  to affirm my strong support for Resolution 36 as a

          8  step toward the repeal of the Urstadt Law. I agree

          9  with my colleagues in City and State government that

         10  the City of New York and now lawmakers in upstate

         11  New York, should have the authority to strengthen

         12  its rent protection guidelines. I am a proud co-

         13  sponsor of Assembly Bill 4523 which would grant this

         14  authority.

         15                 My constituents and I know all too

         16  well of the need to protect affordable housing in

         17  New York City. The small amount of remaining

         18  affordable housing is being threatened and providing

         19  authority to the City to protect it becomes more

         20  important with each passing year. Numerous

         21  apartments have become removed from reasonable

         22  protections from high rents through luxury decontrol

         23  and vacancy decontrol provisions. The skyrocketing

         24  rents in an area that already has some of the most

         25  expensive real estate in the country often leaves
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          2  many low- and middle- income East Side tenants; many

          3  of whom have been here for decades, in precarious

          4  positions. On all too many occasions, my office has

          5  assisted tenants who are facing pressure from

          6  landlords to leave their homes or who cannot afford

          7  to find quality affordable housing in their

          8  neighborhood of choice.

          9                 The State Assembly majority joins the

         10  City Council as an ally in the ongoing fight to

         11  preserve fair rent protections in New York City. In

         12  2003, when rent protection guidelines were set to

         13  expire, my Assembly colleagues and I worked for

         14  their expansion and to end vacancy decontrol. The

         15  State Senate leadership and the Governor, however

         16  failed to pass this legislation and even tried to

         17  weaken protections further. To avert an immediate

         18  crisis of rent protections expiring completely, the

         19  Assembly passed an eight- year extension to ensure

         20  that tenants of rent regulated units would not lose

         21  their homes.

         22                 Since that time, I have authored

         23  legislation to expand the protections of the SCRIE

         24  Program to include more elderly residents, co-

         25  sponsored legislation to protect tenants whose
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          2  landlord attempts to displace them in order to take

          3  the building for personal use, and co- sponsored a

          4  package of bills that has once again passed the

          5  Assembly to protect Mitchell- Lama tenants whose

          6  buildings buy out of the system. Last year, the

          7  Legislature was successful in enacting into law

          8  provisions encouraging landlords of Mitchell- Lama

          9  develops to remain in the program instead of buying

         10  out.

         11                 To fully realize these efforts and to

         12  protect the housing needs of New Yorkers, we need to

         13  put control of strengthening rent protections back

         14  into the hands of the City of New York. I am

         15  encouraged by the Council's recent efforts to

         16  mandate affordable housing for areas of the City

         17  scheduled for new development and I want to thank

         18  Speaker Miller, Chairman Rivera, and their

         19  colleagues for introducing this resolution and for

         20  your efforts on behalf of the people of the City of

         21  New York. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much. Are there any questions from the Committee for

         24  the panel members? Council Member Gail Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm just
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          2  wondering in terms of the State Legislature, the

          3  Senator certainly has done a great job in terms of

          4  bringing this to our attention. How much support do

          5  you think is in the State Legislature currently for

          6  repealing the Urstadt Law?

          7                 MS. JACQUET: Well, currently in the

          8  Senate, most of the Senate Democrats support this

          9  and supported Senator Krueger's bill. The problem

         10  has been primarily with the upstate Republicans and

         11  on April 12, she had a motion to discharge which is

         12  a legislative motion --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         14                 MS. JACQUET: -- To try to bring the

         15  bill to the floor without Senator Bruno's approval

         16  because he wouldn't allow it at a Committee. So

         17  basically that failed because they failed to show

         18  up. There is marked opposition, I guess, to

         19  repealing of the Urstadt Law in the Senate.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         21  much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRMAN RIVERA: Any other questions?

         23  Seeing none, thank you very much. At this point in

         24  time, due to the fact that some members do have

         25  other engagements, we're going to call a vote on all
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          2  SLR's on today's agenda; SLR 13, 14, 16, 36, 38, 41

          3  and 51 will be called on. And also preconsidered SLR

          4  S2077 and A6970. We're going to calling the vote on

          5  those bills.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Rivera.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I vote aye. I

          8  think that it is important for the City of New York

          9  to obtain the wherewithal and the powers to ensure

         10  the viability of the City of New York. I think we do

         11  have a responsible Legislature and we should bring

         12  the power back home away from the State and to those

         13  who are directly affiliated and closely working with

         14  the people living within our communities. I vote aye

         15  on this and all items on today's agenda.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

         22  may I be briefly excused to explain my vote one more

         23  time? Thank you. First, I'd like to be added as a

         24  sponsor to SLR's 13, 16, and 41. I want to say with

         25  regard to the SLR 36, I don't trust Albany. I have
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          2  not seen any tremendous indication that the governor

          3  of the State Senator of this State acknowledges that

          4  this City is part of this State. I have absolutely

          5  no reason in the world to want them to continue to

          6  control housing issues in the City of New York. I

          7  recognize that this Council will have to face very,

          8  very difficult and thorny issues regarding rent

          9  control and stabilization and rent regulation if we

         10  get this jurisdiction. But we were elected to do the

         11  hard things for the City of New York. I think it is

         12  appropriate that we have control over our own

         13  destiny particularly as something as important as

         14  housing. I vote aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: May I briefly

         17  have leave to explain my vote? Mr. Chairman, I

         18  associate myself with the remarks of Council Member

         19  Fidler and would just add to that, that I would not

         20  want where or how I live or where or how my family

         21  lives in the hands of George Pataki and Joe Bruno. I

         22  wouldn't visit that upon any of my fellow New

         23  Yorkers. Count me as one of the Green Mountain boys

         24  as we go over the parapets and Fort Ticonderoga and

         25  fight for home rule. I vote aye on all.

                                                            66

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Sears.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I vote aye on

          4  all. Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote currently

          6  stands at six in the affirmative, zero in the

          7  negative and no abstentions. All SLR's are adopted.

          8  Council Members, please sign the Committee Report.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         10  much, ladies and gentlemen. The hearings are not

         11  over. We still have plenty of people that still want

         12  to testify and make their voices heard. We're also

         13  going to leave the vote open for other members that

         14  are on the Committee that are not here right now,

         15  but would like the opportunity to vote on today's

         16  items that are on the agenda. The next panel which

         17  is Dahlip Dupokkoir from Citizens Action. We have

         18  Judith Goldiner from Legal Aid and Dawn Sullivan

         19  from East Side Tenants Coalition. You are next on

         20  the panel.

         21                 MS. GOLDINER: Thank you for the

         22  opportunity to give testimony today on behalf of the

         23  Legal Aid Society. We appreciate the opportunity to

         24  be here and the leadership that the Council has

         25  shown on this issue especially Chairperson Joel
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          2  Rivera and Speaker Miller and we thank them for

          3  their support.

          4                 The Legal Aid Society supports repeal

          5  of the Urstadt Law because we hope that restoring

          6  home rule in the area of housing to New York City

          7  will help New York City preserve affordable housing

          8  and prevent evictions. We are deeply committed to

          9  preserving rent regulated housing as the largest

         10  source of affordable housing for poor New Yorkers.

         11                 We're especially concerned about not

         12  just preserving low rents which are critically

         13  important, but preventing evictions. And that's one

         14  of the critical parts of rent regulation that is not

         15  given as much attention as issues about the rent

         16  levels. But it's critically important to understand

         17  that because of rent regulations, tenants cannot be

         18  evicted for any reason or no reasons, but only for a

         19  good reason that's seen by a court. And that's

         20  different from most other kinds of housing in New

         21  York City. So all other types of housing a landlord

         22  can evict because he doesn't like you at the end of

         23  your lease.

         24                 In many parts of New York City, we

         25  see tenants who get evicted just because one day
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          2  their landlord gets up and doesn't feel like renting

          3  to them anymore. That's something is causing more

          4  homelessness, more problems, more increases in rent.

          5  That's something that we really have to stop. And

          6  from the Legal Aid Society, we really hope that

          7  while we are happy to see this resolution pass and

          8  we hope that the Council will work with the State

          9  Legislature in order to make the Lopez/Krueger law

         10  actual law. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         12  much. Just push the red button.

         13                 MS. SULLIVAN: My name is Dawn

         14  Sullivan. I'm Chair of the East Side Tenants

         15  Coalition. I'm going to be very brief and I'm going

         16  to stick very much to my experience of 30 years in

         17  working in housing. It is heartbreaking to try and

         18  counsel somebody on the phone now a days;

         19  particularly people without rent regulations. There

         20  are at the mercy of these landlords. They can be

         21  paying $2,500 a month and they're still told, if you

         22  don't like the services, you can move. Just to get

         23  services is a battle for everybody. It's being used

         24  as a form of harassment to get rent regulated

         25  tenants out of their homes. They just hold back on
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          2  everything. The apartments get depleted and run down

          3  because the owners don't care if the rent regulated

          4  tenant is happy or not.

          5                 We can never replace the units that

          6  are being lost in this City for affordable housing.

          7  It defies logic that the Mayor isn't out there

          8  fighting hard to save rent regulations and to bring

          9  the power back to the City. I have been worried and

         10  held back by the Urstadt Law all these years. Every

         11  reform we wanted to make, anti- warehousing, we're

         12  blocked by Urstadt Law. It's deplorable and I'm so

         13  glad that you decided to support us because the time

         14  has come. We need home rule. We need the Mayor

         15  fighting for it. The characters of this City is

         16  being lost. Young people could come here to study.

         17  All the young actors, artists would come here. They

         18  can't come here. Even medical students are not

         19  coming here because they can't afford the housing.

         20  Thank you for voting in the positive for this. We

         21  need you to also work on the Mayor on our behalf.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         24  Ms. Sullivan. I want to thank you both for your time

         25  and testimony today and expressing your concerns
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          2  regarding this important first step that we take

          3  with regards to the tenants. At this point, I'd like

          4  to acknowledge and introduce Council Member Eva

          5  Moskowitz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

          7  very much, Mr. Temporary Chair. I appreciate it. I

          8  just want to say, I want to thank Speaker Miller for

          9  his work and all the members of this Committee.

         10  Self- determination is very basic and that's what

         11  home rule is all about. We can't have people in

         12  upstate New York, Joe Bruno, determining our fate

         13  here in New York. And it's been a source of

         14  tremendous frustration that voters can't hold folks

         15  accountable who are determining something as basic

         16  as their ability to stay in their homes. That is

         17  what home rule is all about.

         18                 What exactly happens after we get

         19  home rule? That's for us here in New York City to

         20  discuss to, perhaps argue about, but we can't have

         21  upstate New York determining what goes on here. I

         22  strongly support this home rule message and I know

         23  that I will do everything in my power to make sure

         24  that Albany gives it to us now that we in the

         25  Council have taken this first step. Thank you very,
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          2  very much.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Moskowitz. Thank you very much for

          5  your time and testimony today. Our next panel will

          6  be a panel of three. We have Lindsey Davis for

          7  Coalition for the Homeless, please step forward;

          8  Sheila Simmens, Coalition for the Homeless; and Iris

          9  Wucherer, Coalition for the Homeless. Please step

         10  forward.  I've got two out of three. Let's see who I

         11  have here. Please state your name.

         12                 MS. DAVIS: My name is Lindsey Davis.

         13  I'm the Community Organizer at the Coalition for the

         14  Homeless.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Just push the

         16  red button.

         17                 MS. DAVIS: My name is Lindsey Davis.

         18  I am the Community Organizer at the Coalition for

         19  the Homeless.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Ma'am?

         21                 MS. SIMMENS: My name is Sheila

         22  Simmens. I'm the Citizen of the Homeless System.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I appreciate

         24  both of you being here. Is there an Iris and if I

         25  pronounce the name wrong, I'm sorry, Wucherer. Iris,
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          2  who has signed up to speak? Okay. I appreciate your

          3  time. If you could give your testimony, I'd

          4  appreciate it.

          5                 MS. DAVIS: Sure. I want to reiterate

          6  the comments of my fellow advocates and good

          7  government organizations here today. There is in

          8  fact a growing affordability crisis in New York

          9  characterized by a deficit of over 500,000

         10  affordable apartments and an accelerating loss of

         11  more than 200,000 rent regulated units as a result

         12  of vacancy decontrol. The gap between median rents

         13  and renter incomes has widen dramatically. And one

         14  in four renter households currently pays more than

         15  half of their income in rent each year.

         16                 I would though like to add to my

         17  colleagues testimony by focusing briefly on the

         18  impact this crisis has on the low- income and

         19  homeless New Yorkers, some of which are here today.

         20  It is in the context of worsening affordability, a

         21  lack of available affordable housing, that we have

         22  witnessed an enormous rise in the number of homeless

         23  New Yorkers. There are currently more than 35,000

         24  homeless New Yorkers sleeping in municipal shelters

         25  including nearly 15,000 homeless children and youth.
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          2  Not to mention thousands of individuals who access

          3  drop in centers and sleep rough on the streets each

          4  night. These numbers represent the highest levels of

          5  homeless since the Great Depression. Homelessness is

          6  also affecting more New Yorkers each year including

          7  102,000 distinct individuals or one in 100 New

          8  Yorkers.

          9                 The City's current inability to

         10  initiate any measures alleviating or regulating the

         11  erosion of affordability housing stock, the widening

         12  affordability gap and the rapid deregulation of the

         13  rent regulated housing stock due to the restrictions

         14  of the Urstadt Law threaten the availability of the

         15  affordable housing for all New Yorkers and impact a

         16  very large number of the low- income households and

         17  their ability to remain in their our own homes. The

         18  Coalition operates and eviction prevention program

         19  which has seen an large increase in the number of

         20  low- cost rent stabilized tenants and the majority

         21  of whom are employed accessing our services. Earning

         22  at or just above the minimum wage even full time

         23  workers whom we have assisted have fallen into rent

         24  arrears and been at risk of imminent homelessness.

         25                 One of the basic tenants of
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          2  democratic government is self- rule which is based

          3  on the principal that distribution of power to those

          4  most immediately invested and affected will tailor

          5  their policies to the specific needs of the citizens

          6  its governs. Repeal of the Urstadt Law in

          7  restoration of control over the specific needs of

          8  local rent regulations and eviction protections must

          9  be returned to New York City in order to ensure the

         10  stability of New York's available affordable housing

         11  stock and the long- term affordability for New

         12  York's lowest income tenants. Thank you for the

         13  ability to present this testimony.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         15  Ms. Davis. Ms. Simmens.

         16                 MS. SIMMENS: Thank you. New York's

         17  low- income tenants are affected first and most

         18  deeply by the growing affordability crisis and loss

         19  of affordable housing units. There is currently a

         20  deficit of more than 340,000 affordable housing

         21  units in New York City which does not account for

         22  the housing of more 36,000 homeless New Yorkers of

         23  which I am included, that are sleeping in municipal

         24  shelters each night including more than 15,000

         25  children. Children who are in desperate need of a
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          2  stable home life. Eviction protection, worsening

          3  affordability and a loss of affordable housing

          4  available to the lowest- income New Yorkers

          5  threatens the housing stability of tenants Citywide.

          6                 City data and surveys have shown that

          7  many families and individuals have become homeless

          8  as the result of evictions and other housing crises

          9  which New York City Council does not currently have

         10  the ability to alleviate; which means to me that

         11  without the restoration of the home rule powers to

         12  the local legislative body, the continual loss of

         13  rent controlled and rent stabilized apartments will

         14  only continue to increase the already overcrowded

         15  shelter system with tenants who no longer be able to

         16  afford the ever increasing high rents.

         17                 On behalf of New York City's homeless

         18  citizens, I thank the City Council and Speaker

         19  Gifford Miller and the State Federal Legislature's

         20  Committee Chairman, Joel Rivera for passing this

         21  home rule message which we have fought for, for over

         22  20 years. This hearing is an important step in

         23  achieving better housing conditions, availability

         24  and protection for New York City's low- income

         25  tenants.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Ms. Simmens. Thank you. Any questions from my

          4  colleagues? Any questions from the Committee? Thank

          5  you very much for your time and testimony today.

          6  Ladies and gentlemen, and I do appreciate your

          7  enthusiasm, what we're going to do is because this

          8  chamber is going to be needed a little later on

          9  today, we're now going to be limiting our testimony

         10  to two minutes, again so we can get everybody in. We

         11  do have a lot of residents who want to give their

         12  testimony. We want to hear each and every one of

         13  you. In order to do that, instead of three minutes,

         14  we're going to have to limit everyone to two minutes

         15  to allow for questions and answers as well. Our next

         16  panel is Jack Lester, please step forward; Damaris

         17  Reyes; and Donald Gray. Please step forward. Donald

         18  Gray, Damaris Reyes. She's coming? Before we hear

         19  testimony, we're going to get a vote by Council

         20  Member Hiram Monserrate on the SLR's today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         22  Council Member Addabbo and Acting Chair. I have to

         23  excuse myself so I'm asking unanimous consent to

         24  vote aye in the affirmative. Thank you very much.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you
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          2  Council Member Monserrate. I want to welcome this

          3  panel here today. If you would please give your name

          4  and your testimony, please.

          5                 MR. LESTER: Good afternoon, members

          6  of the Committee. My name is Jack Lester. I

          7  represent the Stuyvesant Town Peter Cooper Village

          8  Tenants Association on the East Side of Manhattan.

          9  The failure to have home rule has had a drastic

         10  impact on the 30,000 residents of Stuyvesant Town

         11  Peter Cooper Village. You can really view the impact

         12  of Albany's ability to effectuate legislation on the

         13  concrete effects it has had on the residents of

         14  Stuyvesant Town Peter Cooper Village.

         15                 Stuyvesant Town Peter Cooper Village

         16  was built after World War II for returning veterans.

         17  It was really the last remaining affordable, safe

         18  and stable complex on the East Side of Manhattan for

         19  middle- income residents. It's home to teachers,

         20  fire fighters, civil servants, really the economic

         21  backbone of this City. Yet, after Albany has had a

         22  series of legislative assaults on rent

         23  stabilization, there is now in Stuyvesant Town Peter

         24  Cooper Village 30 percent of that housing complex is

         25  free market. We're talking about 10,000 rent
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          2  stabilized tenants have been eliminated from the

          3  last remaining affordable complex on the East Side

          4  of Manhattan. I invite all members of the City

          5  Council to visit Eva Moskowitz's district and really

          6  see what it is like to have safe, affordable, clean,

          7  comfortable housing for children, elderly on the

          8  East Side of Manhattan and that's being eliminated

          9  because Albany has had a series of legislative

         10  assaults.

         11                 Number one, the MCI legislation. The

         12  MCI legislation has forced rents over $2,000 a month

         13  for the vast majority of tenants in Peter Cooper

         14  Village. So that if you have the high income

         15  problem, the legislation that was passed which is

         16  the high- income average and if you have two working

         17  people earning over $170,000 a year which is just

         18  middle- class on the East Side of Manhattan. So if

         19  you have two teachers or two college professors, you

         20  can be destabilized and thrown out of your apartment

         21  if your income goes over $170,000. That's one

         22  example. Another example is what's currently going

         23  in Peter Cooper Village with this new surveillance

         24  system.

         25                 If you are an elderly person and you
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          2  travel, you've worked all your life and now you want

          3  to enjoy the fruits of your labor and travel,

          4  Metropolitan Life has a surveillance system and if

          5  it determines you are absent from your apartment a

          6  certain number of days, they begin a legal

          7  proceeding against you to have you thrown out of

          8  your home. You can imagine elderly people facing the

          9  assault of a hold over proceeding having to retain

         10  counsel and appear in court all because of the

         11  Republican led State Senate.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Mr. Lester,

         13  I'm going to ask you to sum up please.

         14                 MR. LESTER: I'll wrap up now by

         15  saying, you can really see the impact of the

         16  necessity of home rule by visiting Stuyvesant Town

         17  Peter Cooper Village which I have been the tenant

         18  lawyer there for the past 15 years. Thank you.

         19                 MR. GRAY: My name is Donald Gray. I'm

         20  with the Tenant Research Team at Westgate

         21  Apartments. We have reached beyond just the Urstadt

         22  Law regulating the rent regulations. We have gone to

         23  the point where we have found that Governor Pataki

         24  is appointing Commissioners within the Bureau's and

         25  within the agencies in New York City. Landlords and
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          2  these bureau's have become complicit in a buyout

          3  situation in 1997, Mitchell- Lama buyout. This has

          4  been given to every Council Member, every

          5  politician, every law enforcement member and every

          6  bureau and every agency. When they receive the

          7  report from the Tenant Research Team, each one of

          8  these people seem to disappear and this is where we

          9  are coming from.

         10                 We need to have regulations right

         11  here in New York City that can monitor these

         12  agencies and bureaus and when you do that, you have

         13  taken the fox out of the hen house and you have

         14  become to try to establish some kind of integrity

         15  within this element. We're finding that all these

         16  buyouts now that are conducted in my area are

         17  following into the same situation where landlords

         18  are violating codes, laws, rules, and regulations

         19  with immunity. From law enforcement and from every

         20  place that you can imagine. It's ridiculous. It

         21  should be brought back to New York City where there

         22  is oversight by the City Council where people here

         23  can say yes, this is what we want and not have laws

         24  that are made by the Governor wherever they are

         25  applicable to his agenda. That's all I have to say.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Gray. Ms. Reyes.

          4                 MS. PECK: I'd like to say my name is

          5  Rose Peck and I'm here --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Speak into

          7  the microphone, please.

          8                 MS. PECK: Hi. I'd like to say my name

          9  is Rose Peck and I'd like to thank the Chairperson.

         10  I'd like to thank everybody here in support of home

         11  rule and repealing the Urstadt Law. I'd also like to

         12  say as we have formed an organization called,

         13  Speaking Out on Housing in support of Glen Garden's

         14  and all those who need help regarding housing. Let's

         15  take a different approach.

         16                 Now that everybody here knows what

         17  the problems are that we're facing and the mere fact

         18  that we need to save affordable housing and preserve

         19  the housing that we already have, what is it that

         20  each and every person on the panel as well as

         21  Washington, D.C., and Albany want from us. What do

         22  we have to do coming from you in order for you to

         23  support us so that we continue to have a place to

         24  live? I live on the Upper West Side, 87th, 88th and

         25  Amerstadam. Just about every complex has gone out of
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          2  the Mitchell- Lama program. And believe it or not,

          3  it has been predicted that the projects are going to

          4  go co- op and all the Mitchell- Lama's are going

          5  condo.

          6                 We not only have to deal with

          7  affordable and preserving, what happens when you

          8  don't buy your apartment? We're going to be in the

          9  street. We need help. Tell us what you want from us

         10  and we'll give it to you in your support.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Any questions

         12  from my colleagues? Again, we look forward to

         13  working with all tenants throughout the City on this

         14  matter. Again, this is the first step. Once we get

         15  it away from the State and get it under our control,

         16  it will be easier to work together. That's the only

         17  way we're going to go forward is by working

         18  together. So I look forward to that date. Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 Our next panel is Dan Cantor from

         21  Working Families Party; Richard Barr from City- Wide

         22  Tenant's Coalition, Richard Barr, please step

         23  forward; Susan Slocur. Please step forward. I want

         24  to thank the panel for being here today. State your

         25  name and give your testimony to the Committee. Just
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          2  push the red button in.

          3                 MR. CANTOR: Dan Cantor, Executive

          4  Director of the Working Families Party; obviously in

          5  support calling for restoration of home rule over

          6  rent regulations, both as a practical step, but also

          7  as a matter of democracy. Last year the Working

          8  Families Party and our allies achieved substantial

          9  progress toward reforming New York State's quite

         10  harsh and expensive Rockefeller drug laws; with

         11  victories both legislatively and electorally. In the

         12  next year, we hope to overturn another damaging

         13  legacy of the Rockefeller years, the Urstadt Law

         14  that has been mentioned so routinely here.

         15                 In our view and I think in the view

         16  of the Council, the State Legislature is simply not

         17  the appropriate place to regulate New York City rent

         18  and evictions. Prior to passage of the Urstadt Law,

         19  New York City, of course, was governed by the Rent

         20  Stabilization Law of 1969. And the language is worth

         21  recalling from that law. They wrote, "action is

         22  necessary in order to prevent exactions of unjust,

         23  unreasonable and oppressive rents and rental

         24  agreements and to forestall profiteering,

         25  speculation and other disruptive practices tending
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          2  to produce threats to the public health safety and

          3  general welfare." It's the kind of language that

          4  turned out to be all too true.

          5                 As you are more than aware,

          6  deregulation has made it much harder for middle-

          7  class and working class families to live in much of

          8  the City and among the poor, unsurprisingly the

          9  situation is even worse. CSS, Community Service

         10  Society, recently did a study showing that 200,000

         11  very low- income families are paying more than two

         12  thirds, two thirds of their income in rent.

         13  Escalating housing cost then contribute to an

         14  increase in hunger and homelessness. Nothing happens

         15  in a vacuum. Meanwhile, real estate profits

         16  fluctuate between astronomical and absurd.

         17                 In April 2003, you will recall the

         18  Council voted 45 to 3 to ask the State Legislature

         19  to give us power over rents. We need to do that

         20  again. I gather you have. With a strong message from

         21  the Council and with the work of a lot of people in

         22  this room and elsewhere, Working Families Party

         23  believes that this may be the year that New York

         24  regains the power to regulate its own housing

         25  market. Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Cantor. Mr. Barr.

          4                 MR. BARR: Good morning, Council

          5  Members. Thank you for taking my testimony. My name

          6  is Richard Barr and I am a member of the City- Wide

          7  Tenants Coalition and a rent regulated Manhattan

          8  tenant. I speak in favor of SLR 36. When the Senator

          9  from Rensselaer County, notwithstanding that he is

         10  the Majority Leader, announced in 1997 that he was

         11  going to put an end to our City's rent regulation

         12  and tenant protections laws, it demonstrated with

         13  crystal clarity that the Urstadt Law is a perversion

         14  of democratic processes and of representative

         15  government. Imagine what Joe Bruno's, or any other

         16  out of City legislator's reaction would be if the

         17  Assembly, through the speaker, said it was going to

         18  interfere in a local matter of vital importance to

         19  them.

         20                 The serious decimation of our rent

         21  laws, begun unfortunately by previous Council

         22  leadership and then furthered by the State over the

         23  last eight years, is rapidly bringing about a

         24  situation in which there will soon be almost no more

         25  affordable rental housing left in this City. The
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          2  State will never remedy this situation by reversing

          3  that decimation of the laws. When State legislators

          4  are able to receive financial support from New York

          5  City Real Estate interests but are not subject to

          6  the votes of New York City tenants, it makes for a

          7  very unlevel playing field. It is not surprising

          8  that those legislators, even in the Assembly, may

          9  not want to give up that prerogative.

         10                 Of course, the Council if the City

         11  regains control of these laws will also be in a

         12  position to receive that support, but they will also

         13  be answerable to tenant voters. Then it's a real

         14  contest and we have a chance. You must aggressively

         15  support the legislation in both houses of the State

         16  to repeal Urstadt and push the Mayor to do so as

         17  well. And push Speaker Silver to play hard ball up

         18  there and block something Bruno and the Governor

         19  desperately want unless they give us back control

         20  over our laws and protections. When it comes to

         21  being able to live in New York City, there is no

         22  more important issue than this. The future of

         23  affordable of housing in this City and of millions

         24  of low- and modest- income tenants, depends upon it.

         25  Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Barr.

          4                 MS. SLECUM: Hi, I'm Susan Slecum,

          5  formerly Housing Director for a non- profit in

          6  Brooklyn and Director of a Senior Center in

          7  Manhattan. Every day I see people who can't afford

          8  their rents. They have to leave. I have two senior

          9  ladies who got a letter about the high income

         10  vacancy decontrol. They're on vacation so they

         11  didn't answer in time. Guess what? They're out. They

         12  came to me, what can we do? There is nothing they

         13  can do. They're looking in Bronx. They're looking

         14  all over trying to find an apartment in their older

         15  years. It's not fair. We have to take control in the

         16  City where they will be accountable to the people

         17  who elect them. Thank you very much.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         19  Ms. Slecum. I want to thank this panel. Any

         20  questions from my colleagues? Ms. Slecum, you bring

         21  out an issue of two residents there that represents

         22  over 100,000 throughout the City. I appreciate you

         23  bringing up that instance. Thank you very much. Have

         24  a good day, thanks for your time. Our next panel,

         25  Ben Ross; Adele Bender, please step forward; and Dr.
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          2  Chithra Karunakaran, public citizen. Please step

          3  forward. I want to thank this panel for being here

          4  today. Please state your name and give your

          5  testimony.

          6                 MR. ROSS: Hi, my name is Benjamin

          7  Ross, Special Projects Coordinator at the New York

          8  Immigration Coalition, an umbrella policy and

          9  advocacy organization of over 150 immigrant

         10  organizations around the City working to provide a

         11  united voice and vehicles for collective action on

         12  issues important to immigrant communities. I want to

         13  thank the Council Members and the staff here for

         14  holding this and already supporting the repeal of

         15  the Urstadt Law. Just to add a voice to the already

         16  strong chorus of voices supporting the repeal of the

         17  Urstadt Law.

         18                 Stable housing is the foundation from

         19  which immigrants and their families connect to local

         20  social and religious institutions, cultivate

         21  neighborhood ties, and pursue educational and work

         22  opportunities, and contribute to New York City's

         23  economic and cultural vibrancy. Unfortunately, for

         24  most of New York's immigrants and their families,

         25  housing instability is the shared experience. The
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          2  most recent housing data from the 2002 Housing

          3  Vacancy Survey demonstrates that immigrant New

          4  Yorkers use a higher percentage of their income to

          5  pay rent than native New Yorkers; are more likely to

          6  live in overcrowded housing by a factor of three and

          7  are more likely to live in housing with significant

          8  repair needs.

          9                 Returning home rule to the New York

         10  City Council will ensure fair rent increases and

         11  guarantee that New York City will remain an

         12  attractive destination for immigrant families and

         13  workers; decrease overcrowding and allow working

         14  immigrant families paying more than 50 percent of

         15  their income in rent to stay in their apartments and

         16  continue to be active members in their community.

         17  Right now, about 40 percent of all New Yorkers are

         18  immigrants. About two out of three New Yorkers are

         19  either immigrants and their children. Having stable,

         20  safe affordable housing is really key. It's been too

         21  long that this has been out of the control of the

         22  people that we elect here in New York City. We want

         23  to work with you to bring that back here. Thank you

         24  for your support.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Ben.

          3                 MS. BENDER: Good morning, my name is

          4  Adele Bender. I am the Queens Borough Coordinator

          5  for JPAC, Joint Public Affairs for Older Adults and

          6  a member of various tenant organizations in New

          7  York. Please correct me if I am wrong, but I believe

          8  that New York City tax money that goes up to the

          9  State exceeds what New York City gets back in

         10  return. Adding insult to injury, the State has more

         11  control over what happens to the tenants in New York

         12  City, than our local legislators, New York City

         13  Council. Much of that tax money goes to the State is

         14  from tenants in New York City that pay the ever

         15  increasing unaffordable rents.

         16                 New York is where everything is

         17  happening. Some of it good, some not so good. I

         18  refer to our housing crisis; to the limitation of

         19  powers that New York City tenants have over our fate

         20  as tenants because much of that power rests upstate,

         21  not with our New York City Council. Some of the

         22  upstate Legislatures are not either really aware of

         23  the problems encountered by New York City tenants

         24  and/or may simply feel it is not their concern since

         25  we are not their constituents. However, it is our
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          2  concern.

          3                 The lack of home rule has resulted in

          4  the chipping away of rent regulations, high- rent

          5  vacancy decontrol as well as other destructive

          6  decontrol measures leading to ever increasing rents

          7  making it unaffordable to live in this City,

          8  depriving many of us of enjoying what this City has

          9  to offer. Rent controlled tenants play seven and a

         10  half percent each year increases plus a fuel cost

         11  pass a long. Rent stabilized tenants pay increases

         12  each time we renew our leases. Mitchell- Lama is

         13  going market rate resulting in outrageous increases

         14  in rents. We all pay major capital improvements

         15  increases which are included in our rents

         16  indefinitely. Seniors who cannot qualify for SCRIE

         17  and the disabled are in deep trouble.

         18                 The result is that many tenants

         19  cannot afford these rents. Some are forced to move

         20  out of town. This means moving from family and

         21  friends and the break up of communities and for

         22  some, even homelessness. There are working people

         23  living in shelters. All of this means a forced

         24  alienation. I know my time is up, but I do have to

         25  say that we need home rule. I want to thank State
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          2  Senator Liz Krueger and New York State Assemblyman

          3  Vito Lopez for introducing this desperately needed

          4  legislation that will repeal the Urstadt Law.

          5                 And I also want to thank the New York

          6  City Council and Speaker Gifford Miller, the lead

          7  sponsor of SLR 36 and State and Federal Legislation

          8  Committee, Chairman Joel Rivera, for passing this

          9  home rule message. Today's hearing and I'm sorry I'm

         10  going on, and this legislation is urgent. We look

         11  forward to working with you and the City Council

         12  because I love New York. I would rather fight to

         13  stay than switch to living anywhere else. Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         15                 DR. KARUNAKARAN: My name is Dr.

         16  Chithra Karunakaran. I'm speaking completely

         17  independently of the public citizen.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Can you just

         19  speak closer to the mic, please?

         20                 DR. KARUNAKARAN: I'm speaking

         21  completely independently as a public citizen which I

         22  think is my duty and my right. The million plus

         23  tenants of New York City must act to get fair,

         24  affordable housing by any means necessary. Home rule

         25  is one of these means. In principal, I support home
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          2  rule. But asking for home rule is like asking for a

          3  Band- Aid to put on a festering sore. We have to do

          4  more. Tenants must struggle to dismantle and

          5  overturn the powerful wealthy and secretive landlord

          6  monopoly which owns millions of units of New York

          7  housing.

          8                 It is also a fact that this landlord

          9  monopoly and its powerful and wealthy lobby of the

         10  RSA, pays off politicians and our elected officials

         11  by making contributions to all political parties and

         12  elected officials by financing their elections and

         13  re- elections. So long as politicians are sitting in

         14  the pocket of landlords, we will not see fair,

         15  affordable housing for the working people of New

         16  York City. Each and every one of the million plus

         17  tenants in New York must get a fair chance to own

         18  their own shelter.

         19                 At the same time, renters must be

         20  protected to the full extent of the law. Do you know

         21  of any other business whose profits are protected

         22  and guaranteed by New York State? Only the real

         23  estate business of landlord monopoly ownership is

         24  protected and their profits are guaranteed. Rent

         25  regulation laws are originally written to protect
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          2  tenants. Now they protect landlords profits and

          3  monopoly ownership. I support home rule. But I do

          4  not unconditionally support home rule because just

          5  bringing it to the local level will hardly change

          6  anything. We need to break the landlord monopoly;

          7  break the landlord politician relationship and act

          8  for the greater common good. Fair housing is a human

          9  right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         11  Dr. Thank you very much for your time and testimony.

         12  Our next panel is Kenneth Schaeffer; Richard

         13  Sadowski and Faith Steinberg. Please step forward.

         14  Your name? Richard Sadowski and Faith Steinberg, are

         15  they in the house?

         16                 MR. SCHAEFFER: I just want to let

         17  people know we're scheduled to have a press

         18  conference starting at 12:30. I think I'm probably

         19  going to be the last speaker and we've been

         20  informed, correct me if I'm wrong, that the

         21  Committee is going to break and then reconvene if

         22  there are people who haven't been reached yet who

         23  want to continue their testimony. Pasquall Bernard

         24  (phonetic) from the Speaker's Office had relied that

         25  information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

          3  We're going to keep it going.

          4                 MR. SCHAEFFER: Thank you very much.

          5  My name is Kenny Schaeffer. I'm Vice Chair of the

          6  Metropolitan Council on Housing which is one of the

          7  three groups that help organized today's event along

          8  with New York State Tenants and Neighbors and the

          9  Coalition for the Homeless. I just want to

         10  acknowledge all the different groups that have

         11  endorsed this call for home rule including

         12  Association of Legal Aid attorneys, UAW 2325, which

         13  I'm a member of and are President this year; the

         14  Brennan Center for Justice and NYU Law School;

         15  Central Park Gardens Tenant Association; Citizen

         16  Action of New York; the Coalition for the Homeless;

         17  Community for Democratic; Garden Riverside Community

         18  Center; JPAC, Joint Public Affairs Committee for

         19  Older Adults; Kingbridge Heights Neighborhood

         20  Association; the Legal Aid Society; Metropolitan

         21  Council on Housing; New York Immigrate Coalition;

         22  New York State Tenants and Neighbors; Project Find;

         23  Rev. L. Cooper Camp from St. Mary's Episcopal Church

         24  who is here; Tenant House West Tenant Association;

         25  Westgate Tenant Association and the Working Families
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          2  Party.

          3                 New York City's power to enact rent

          4  and eviction protections was removed in 1971 and

          5  placed in Albany under Governor Nelson Rockefeller.

          6  The State Legislature has done a terrible job

          7  controlling rent and evictions just as Rockefeller

          8  intended. A crisis is raging and the City Council's

          9  hands are tied. Yet rent and evictions protections

         10  were weakened in Albany in 1993 and 1997 and again

         11  in 2003. I just want to use the brief rest of

         12  remarks to mention that I have testimony from the

         13  Brennan Center for Justice at NYU Law School and

         14  while I'm not affiliated with the Brennan Center for

         15  Justice, I'm here to present their testimony and I

         16  did go to the school. I'll just read a bit of that

         17  testimony and I'll present it.

         18                 The Brennan Center for Justice at NYU

         19  School of Law submits this statement in support of

         20  the principal of home rule over rent and eviction

         21  regulations in New York City. The Brennan Center is

         22  a non- profit, non- partisan organization that

         23  worked to develop and implement an innovative non-

         24  partisan agenda of scholarship, public education and

         25  legal action that promotes equality and human
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          2  dignity while safeguarding fundamental freedoms. We

          3  submit this statement because we believe that the

          4  City of New York should have the power to determine

          5  both whether to adopt rent and eviction regulations

          6  and how such regulations should be implemented.

          7  Brennan Center takes no position on how New York

          8  City should exercise that power.

          9                 The brief goes on to talk about how

         10  fundamental the concept of home rule is to human

         11  freedom and democracy in around the world and in the

         12  United States and in New York State. Alex Topefull

         13  (phonetic) had written almost 200 years ago that

         14  without home rule people may have a free government,

         15  but they don't have the spirit of liberty. I think

         16  the time is long past for New York City to get back

         17  home rule. It's corrupt. It's a scandal for Albany

         18  to be controlling New York City's rent and eviction

         19  laws.

         20                 We're really pleased that the City

         21  Council from the Speaker to the Chair to the Members

         22  of the Committee, Bikku Kuruvila, Counsel to the

         23  Committee, who helped us arrange this hearing. We're

         24  really grateful that the Council is now going to

         25  from this day forward, I believe, really represent
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          2  and demand and insist that New York City gets

          3  control over our housing crisis back where it

          4  belongs, takes it away from Albany.

          5                 The last quick comment I wanted to

          6  make in terms of the politics of it is that we're

          7  going to have to make this a Statewide issue the way

          8  we did with the minimum wage law and the Rockefeller

          9  drug laws. That's why unions, such as my union, the

         10  Working Family Party, Citizen Action, Statewide

         11  groups are starting to recognize that this is a

         12  critical issue for governments in New York State.

         13  Thank you. Let's all go outside now for the press

         14  conference.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We're not

         16  recessing. Those who want to testify should be given

         17  that opportunity. Our next panel is Dorothy Simon

         18  from the Retirees Association of DC37; Peter Leahey,

         19  representing himself and Susan Howard from the

         20  Norfolk Street Tenants Association. Are all three of

         21  you here? Are we missing --

         22                 MS. SIMON: Don't go. The meeting

         23  isn't over. I'm from DC 37 Retirees --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Wait, wait.

         25                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: There's a press
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          2  conference out front.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We're missing

          4  somebody. We have Dorothy Simon and Susan Howard. Is

          5  Peter Leahey here? Mr. Leahey is not here and then

          6  we'll call to join this panel, Susan Susman from

          7  Central Park Garden Tenants Association. Please join

          8  this panel. Thank you. We're back on the clock.

          9  Start.

         10                 MS. SIMON: I'm Dorothy Simon from the

         11  DC 37 Retirees Association. I'm shocked to see that

         12  nobody is left on the panel except for Mr. Addabbo.

         13  We are tenants and we are voters. Tenants and voters

         14  and that's the new organization that should be set

         15  up. Because all of those people that have left

         16  should be voted out of office. They're not

         17  interested in our problems. I live near Lincoln

         18  Center. I was thrown out of my apartment, myself and

         19  my husband who is now deceased, because they were

         20  building Lincoln Center. At the end of the fight,

         21  the leader of the tenants in Lincoln Center became

         22  the Housing Commissioner. How we could trust you

         23  when there is a payoff all the time? Our leader

         24  became the Housing Commissioner and the people that

         25  were there had to get out. Period.
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          2                 I am still living in Lincoln Center,

          3  but I'm not living in the area where I was evicted

          4  from because that building that was built for us

          5  over on 65th, they made a deal that the Spanish

          6  people from the lower East Side would come up to

          7  Lincoln Center and the Jewish people in the lower

          8  East Side would get a building down there that they

          9  were building. Everything is based on corruption.

         10  That's why we have to vote all the people that won't

         11  even sit here to hear our story go. They don't know

         12  that there are only 15 rent controlled tenants left

         13  in my building and we're getting increases based on

         14  the assessed value of the building. That value goes

         15  up because every time a rent controlled tenant dies,

         16  what happens? They get $3,000 and up from a new

         17  tenant. The apartment becomes decontrolled. We're

         18  surrounded by people that are living in apartments

         19  that have been completely remodeled with washing

         20  machines and dish washers. We're not even allowed to

         21  have such things in our apartments. It's considered

         22  to be an electrical hazard or something.

         23                 If we could afford --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Ms. Simon, I'm

         25  going to have to ask you to wrap up.
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          2                 MS. SIMON: Well, I'll wrap up all

          3  right. We need rent control because we will be out

          4  on the street. We have an increase right now. I'd

          5  like to speak to somebody from my district before I

          6  go home. I came all the way down here. The elevator

          7  at 66th Street on the subway wasn't working. I

          8  couldn't get down on the subway. I'm here late. I

          9  don't even know if anybody from DC 37 Retirees spoke

         10  at all or when anyone from DC 37 spoke. But anyway,

         11  I want to tell you that a lot of people that vote

         12  from DC 37 and from DC 37 Retirees and we all want

         13  rent control back again; not rent stabilization and

         14  not the decontrol rent control based on the assessed

         15  value. The New York Times two weeks ago --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Ms. Simon, Ms.

         17  Simon, in fairness of everybody who is waiting to

         18  speak --

         19                 MS. SIMON: I'm going to give you an

         20  exhibit. I want to submit an exhibit.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Please, we'll

         22  make it part of the record.

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: There are a lot

         24  of other people who need to speak.

         25                 MS. SIMON: Oh, I thought I was the
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          2  last.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: No, no.

          4                 MS. SIMON: Because it looks like

          5  everybody went home.

          6                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No, there is a

          7  press conference out front.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I do want to

          9  thank you for your testimony and say that --

         10                 MS. SIMON: Why didn't someone tell me

         11  there was a press conference?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: -- In fairness to

         13  my colleagues, we have other things going on here at

         14  the Council and I know that some of our colleagues

         15  are at the press conference on this issue right now

         16  advocating very much the sentiment that you

         17  expressed as well. I don't know who your Council

         18  Member is because I'm not familiar. But that person

         19  may not be a member of this Committee. They

         20  shouldn't be held to task for not being here. Next.

         21                 MS. SUSMAN: Hi, my name is Sue

         22  Susman. I'm head of the Tenants Association at

         23  Central Park Gardens which is a formerly Mitchell-

         24  Lama building now in rent stabilization. Because of

         25  a court case that concerns Westgate, Jean Dorsey,
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          2  the head of the Westgate Tenants Association is

          3  sitting here, there are 65 Mitchell- Lama buildings

          4  in New York City that are facing enormous increases.

          5  In Jean's building they asked for increases of up to

          6  seven times what tenants were paying. In my

          7  building, they've asked for up to eight times; New

          8  Amsterdam they've asked for something similar.

          9                 If we have home rule, the same

         10  question remains, where can we go? That's what we

         11  keep asking ourselves. There has to be affordable

         12  housing. Michael McKee was talking about the

         13  necessity of changing a crazy quilt of regulations

         14  and statutes into some kind of a unified whole that

         15  makes sense. We need that. We need to preserve

         16  affordable housing as well as building more. As

         17  Chithra said earlier, it has to be fair. We're very

         18  delighted that you've passed SLR 36 and thank you

         19  for that Now we need to know that you are going to

         20  work very hard to make sure the legislator goes

         21  further and that you're going to do something to

         22  preserve existing affordable housing as well as

         23  building more. Thank you.

         24                 MS. HOWARD: My name is Susan Howard.

         25  I'm here representing the 184- 186- 188 Norfolk

                                                            104

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  Street Tenants Association. I'm also a former Board

          3  Member of the MET Council and Housing. While it is

          4  true, we have 49 units of rent stabilized apartments

          5  in my buildings, of those 49 units, about four have

          6  gone out of rent stabilization in the last year.

          7  Tenants who have preferential rents are no longer

          8  able to organize, come to meetings or even call and

          9  report problems to the landlord because at their

         10  next lease renewal, they could be seen with a jump

         11  of $6 to $800 in rents now with the legislation

         12  passed in Albany 2003, I believe it was.

         13                 I wanted to read a little excerpt

         14  from the tenant movement New York City 1904 to 1984.

         15  Because I think it's important to recognize why we

         16  have rent regulation and what the City looked like

         17  and how we managed without it. The landlords

         18  argument that somehow the rents would stabilized

         19  themselves if we're out of regulation is a complete

         20  myth and it's their argument to get rid of rent

         21  regulation completely. I'll just read this. It's

         22  very, very brief.

         23                 As landlords attempted to squeeze

         24  more rent from the tenants or to evict them to bring

         25  in a new family at a higher figure, the courts
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          2  became clogged. A total of 96,623 families faced

          3  eviction proceedings in 1919 with the majority of

          4  these cases coming before the bench in the fall

          5  months. Many judges were hearing several hundred

          6  cases per day and the evening sessions had to be

          7  introduced. Under these circumstances, some freely

          8  admitted their inability to deal with each tenant

          9  fairly. Usually a tenant would be allowed to pay his

         10  old rent for another month and then vacate. As a

         11  result, in October 1, 1919, moving day was described

         12  as the most congested in the City's history. Over

         13  75,000 families in just the Bronx and Manhattan

         14  alone changed apartments.

         15                 One City paper noted that usually on

         16  New York's moving day, a trend in the definite

         17  direction may be noticed. But this is an unusual

         18  year. At one time, most of the population was

         19  flocking to the Bronx. At others, they chose new

         20  homes on Washington and Morningside Heights or in

         21  the suburbs. This year, they count themselves lucky

         22  among the elect if they had any place in which to

         23  go.

         24                 We don't want to go back to 1919

         25  without rent regulation. We need to expand rent
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          2  regulation and figure out how to do that. We cannot

          3  move from our apartments now because there is no

          4  place to go and we are being harassed and rent

          5  gauged out of our apartments today. Thank you for

          6  passing it in Committee. I hope it goes to full

          7  Council for support and I hope we have your support

          8  going forward. Thanks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. Our

         10  next panel is Leonard Sydney from Outreach Community

         11  East Side Tenants Council; Jean Green Dorsey from

         12  Westgate Tenants Association; and a recall of

         13  Damaris Reyes. Damaris, still here? Okay. Who's

         14  going first?

         15                 MR. SYDNEY: Good morning or good

         16  afternoon as the case may be. My friends, my name is

         17  Leonard Sydney. I serve as the Chairperson of the

         18  Outreach Committee East Side Tenants Community. It

         19  is my unpleasant task to tell you that if things in

         20  New York State do not change in the next six years,

         21  rent regulation covering both rent control and rent

         22  stabilized apartments will not be renewed. Yes, I am

         23  saying that the law will expire and with it the

         24  remaining protections, reduced though they may be,

         25  will disappear.
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          2                 Should this happen, the migration of

          3  working families, senior citizens and much of the

          4  middle- class will accelerate to the outer boroughs

          5  and further beyond. Make no mistake, this will be

          6  directly caused by the incredibly large rent

          7  increases that landlords will charge following the

          8  death of rent regulation. There is only one way to

          9  prevent this terrible outcome. Each interested

         10  person must join the tenant movement and actively

         11  support the programs and efforts of your chosen

         12  organization.

         13                 The Outreach Committee, (ETC)

         14  believes that the 2006 and 2008 elections are

         15  crucial to the preservation of rent regulations. We

         16  are committed to the election of a democratic

         17  majority in the New York State Senate. Folks, it

         18  only takes four more seats. This new democratic

         19  State Senate, working and voting with the Democratic

         20  Assembly can and must vote to overturn the Urstadt

         21  Law and thereafter return to home rule the laws

         22  governing the one million plus rental homes in New

         23  York City.

         24                 Make no mistake, the City's landlords

         25  are waiting expectantly for rent regulations to
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          2  expire. I believe much of the current increase in

          3  rental building values already anticipates this

          4  result. Therefore, I certainly rise in favor of the

          5  City Council home rule resolution and fully support

          6  its purpose while recognizing that it cannot,

          7  without political change in the New York State

          8  Senate win the day per se. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. I just

         10  want to mention to the rest of this panel and anyone

         11  else who is testifying. It's not necessary for you

         12  to read your testimony. I give you my word, I can

         13  read. And obviously I'm the last man standing,

         14  that's why I have the gavel. Hit the high points,

         15  tell us from the heart. That always works better.

         16                 MS. DORSEY: Good afternoon, I'm Jean

         17  Green Dorsey, Westgate Tenants Association. I'm the

         18  Chair of the Westgate Tenants Association and we are

         19  the development that has taken the case to the Court

         20  of Appeals. Our hearing was May 4. I come before you

         21  to say number one, thank you for having this

         22  hearing. I do support the repeal of the Urstadt Law.

         23  I would like for you to think a little bit outside

         24  of the box. I will speak from the heart. Much of

         25  what has been done with Mitchell- Lama and most of
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          2  the housing in New York City in the past 40 years

          3  has been done as a result of a public/private

          4  partnership.

          5                 I believe that the public is getting

          6  short shifted. We may not be stock holders, but

          7  we're certainly stake holders. My development, over

          8  90 percent of the financing for our development was

          9  from public money; from your money and my money, tax

         10  payer dollars. I think we have more control. We

         11  could exercise more power which we could certainly

         12  do better if we have home rule. The devil is in the

         13  details and now is the time to look at those details

         14  and make that happen. An example would be the fact

         15  that no matter what has happened recently in our

         16  complex, it doesn't seem to be any law that they

         17  violated enough where you could say wait a minute,

         18  we're going to turn back the clock.

         19                 We have managed to keep our rent

         20  stable. We have managed to fight our way through to

         21  the Court of Appeals. But what we need is to have

         22  the control and be able to exercise the power that

         23  the public participation should have brought us in

         24  the first place. Thank you.

         25                 MS. REYES: Good afternoon, my name is
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          2  Damaris Reyes. I am the Executive Director of Good

          3  Old Lower East Side. We are a 27- year- old

          4  organization that fights for preservation, tenants

          5  rights, and homelessness prevention. Throughout the

          6  years we have seen the devastating impact of the

          7  Urstadt Law first hand. Since 1997, over 100,000

          8  rent stabilized units have been lost Citywide in New

          9  York City. It's estimated that about 20 to 30

         10  percent of those have been from the Lower East Side

         11  and in the past year alone, we have lost about

         12  5,000. With the expiring Section 8 contracts for

         13  some of the developments in our community, we are

         14  estimating that over the next year and a half, we

         15  will lose an additional 1,500 units of affordable

         16  housing. I'm sure you can agree that's just too much

         17  to bear for any community.

         18                 The housing crisis in our community

         19  has gone on for far too long. Homelessness is at a

         20  record high. There are about 45,000 families in the

         21  homeless shelters and this does not include families

         22  that are doubled up, tripled up and are living with

         23  families and friends. The New York City Housing

         24  Authority has over 125,000 people on their waiting

         25  list for public housing and about 25 percent of all
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          2  New Yorkers pay more than 50 percent of their rent.

          3  With a vacancy rate of less than two percent, this

          4  provides few options for tenants that are priced out

          5  or that have become homeless and looking for

          6  housing.

          7                 While home rule will not solve all of

          8  our housing problems, it will help us to do a better

          9  job of holding our electives accountable and

         10  demanding laws and housing and rent protections.

         11  Home rule could repeal high vacancy decontrol and

         12  other destructive decontrol measures; expand rent

         13  and eviction protection for post 1973 Mitchell- Lama

         14  and Section 8 buildings that are all in jeopardy of

         15  expiring out; they could provide relief for rent

         16  controlled tenants; expand the SCRIE program; reform

         17  the Rent Guidelines Board and give the City Council

         18  control at least over the confirmation of the

         19  Mayor's appointment and also reform the MCI, Major

         20  Capital Improvement, which tenants now have to pay

         21  for the lifetime of their tenancy.

         22                 We thank the City Council Committee

         23  for voting for the SLR 36 and we hope that the full

         24  City Council will vote with you. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you both.
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          2  Your written testimony will be part of the record. I

          3  don't want to worry anyone who didn't read their

          4  testimony. Our final panel is Janet Dunson from

          5  Granite Tenants Coalition; Evan Baker; and Jeff

          6  Shames from Eviction Intervention Services. Only one

          7  here. Our final speaker.

          8                 MS. DUNSON: My name is Janet Dunson

          9  and I am with the Granite Tenants Coalition and 47th

         10  East Third Street Tenants Association. Several years

         11  ago, landlords began to take advantage of the owner

         12  occupancy clause in the rent stabilization code to

         13  recover one or more apartments in an individual

         14  building. They were so successful that certain

         15  landlords, creative or brazen landlords began to

         16  recover more than one apartment in a single building

         17  or began to recover apartments in more than one

         18  building. Several more years passed and now

         19  landlords have begun to use the owner occupancy

         20  clause to take over and recover entire buildings.

         21                 I know this first hand because our

         22  landlord is trying to evict everyone in our 15 unit

         23  rent stabilized building to create a luxury mansion

         24  for himself, his wife and their infant child. This

         25  is an egregious use of the owner occupancy clause in
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          2  the rent stabilization code. Everyone in our

          3  building is a very long- term rent stabilized

          4  tenant, hard working, modest income and yet we have

          5  spent almost $100,000 fighting this legal battle to

          6  save our homes. Every politician we have spoken to

          7  has said our hands are tied because of the Urstadt

          8  Law.

          9                 I would like to suggest perhaps if

         10  the Urstadt Law cannot be repealed any time soon,

         11  that we begin to think more creatively about ways

         12  that we can fight individual abuses in the rent

         13  stabilization code. Owner occupancy is one example

         14  and there are other examples. Perhaps fighting them

         15  individually could be a way to regain some control.

         16  This is something that is obviously only going to

         17  continue and is the newest tactic used by landlords.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. That

         20  concludes today's hearing, the State and Federal

         21  legislation Committee. I want to thank every one --

         22  you didn't sign in, sir? I'm sorry. Didn't I just

         23  call you? I called you. Mr. Baker, by all means. I

         24  take it back. Keep rolling.

         25                 MR. BAKER: My name is Evan Baker. I'm
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          2  Master and Social Worker student at DeVry

          3  University. I want to talk about the policy process

          4  when it comes to making the rental decisions. The

          5  policy process is unconstitutional. It doesn't flow

          6  within the spirit of the 14th amendment. There is no

          7  due process, no equal protection. The decision

          8  making power is left exclusively in the hands of

          9  people who are not representative of the community

         10  they affect.

         11                 The Rent Control Panel operates in

         12  anonymity and without challenge and without

         13  opposition. A vote of nine people who determine the

         14  policy of eight million people, this is not a

         15  democratic process. The Rent Control Panel simply

         16  states its reasons and votes. No inquiry to the

         17  truth, accuracy or validity to the alleged facts are

         18  presented. No facts to the contrary may be presented

         19  nor would they have any effect. Again, this is not a

         20  democratic process. It is unconstitutional according

         21  to the 14th amendment.

         22                 This policy disparately impacts New

         23  Yorkers who are poor, who are Black and Latino and

         24  who are elderly. The result of an undemocratic

         25  policy process creates a greater burden on the
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          2  people of New York City. This policy if its intent

          3  was not to create an apartheid culture has all the

          4  effects bells and whistles of the an outcome that is

          5  100 percent representative of an apartheid when you

          6  look at the effect it has on Blacks and Latinos.

          7                 This policy does nothing to

          8  strengthen the City financially when it is pointed

          9  out by the City Comptroller. Businesses are leaving

         10  New York City because of a cost of paying a living

         11  wage for businesses is too high. This is bad policy.

         12  These problems which I have just stated are the

         13  result of an undemocratic process. The 14th

         14  amendment was meant to protect the citizens of this

         15  country against this type of undemocratic leadership

         16  by ensuring equal protection and due process. This

         17  is a Federal court issue. This is a 14th amendment

         18  issue on how it disparately affects Blacks and

         19  Latinos and because of the process itself being

         20  nonrepresentative of the City. This corrupt system

         21  should be in the spot light and a temporary

         22  restraining order against this new policy should be

         23  in place until a new democratic policy process is

         24  established and a new policy is created that

         25  benefits New York City. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. Now I

          3  will take the chance of saying this State and

          4  Federal Legislation Committee hearing is concluded.

          5  I want to thank everyone who came and testified. I

          6  especially want to thank those who remained to the

          7  bitter end. I thank the Committee staff and for

          8  those of you who are watching this at home at 2:00

          9  in the morning. It's time to go to bed.

         10                 (Meeting adjourned)

         11                 (Following written testimony was read

         12  into the record)

         13  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

             Faith Steinberg

         14

         15

         16                 I urge you to overturn the draconian

         17  Urstadt Law that comes from the politicos in Albany

         18  who do not give a damn what happens to us here in

         19  New York City. I was at the recent Rent Guideline

         20  Board hearings and there is a very angle people out

         21  there, including yours truly. We in this great City

         22  must make our own decisions and not leave it up to

         23  some mayoral appointed members who for the most part

         24  have no awareness of what tenants go through, the

         25  tenants members, excepted.
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          2                 I heard one of the landlord members

          3  of the RGB say that landlords should not have to

          4  supply welfare to tenants and much talk about fair

          5  market rents. Fair to whom? It got my blood boiling.

          6  Housing is one of the basic necessities of life.

          7  Non- luxury housing must be strongly regulated

          8  because landlords are buying up low- and middle-

          9  income housing in the hopes of making a windfall and

         10  not enough is being done to replace the disappearing

         11  housing. Landlords who buy up low- and middle-

         12  income housing as a means of livelihood are sucking

         13  the blood out of working people. Federal and State

         14  programs like Section 8 and Mitchell- Lama housing

         15  must be reinforced and instituted.

         16                 It is also time to resurrect an old

         17  bill calling for fines for landlords who warehouse

         18  apartments. In times of food shortages, to hoard

         19  food is criminal. The same should be applied to

         20  housing. Why should families have to live in

         21  shelters while apartments stand empty?

         22  Unconscionable. Greed is the order of the day.

         23  Overturning the Urstadt Law is the first step to

         24  reverse this order.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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